
 

 

 

Boston Borough Council 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire 
PE21 8QR 
Tel: Tel 01205 314226 
Fax: 
 

 
My ref: PE/KR/Planning 
 

Please ask for: Karen Rist, Democratic Services Officer (Direct number Tel 01205 314226) 
 
Monday, 1 March 2021 
 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Dear Councillor  
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Planning Committee 
 

on Tuesday, 9 March 2021 at 10.00 am 
 

in the Online Meeting - view the meeting at www.mybostonuk.com/youtube 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 
Chairman:  Councillor Tom Ashton 
Vice Chair:  Councillor Alison Austin  
Councillors:  Peter Bedford, David Brown, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, 
Brian Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Chelcei Trafford, Peter Watson and Judith Welbourn 
 

 

 
Note(s) for Members of the Committee:  

In order to vote on a planning application committee Members must be present for the entire 
presentation and discussion on the item. 
 
When an official site visit is undertaken which forms part of the decision making at Committee, 
only Members who have attended the site visit and received full representation will be able to 
debate and decide the application. 
 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend the committee meeting as observers 

except during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded. 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

AA  GG  EE  NN  DD  AA  
 

PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

 

A   APOLOGIES 
 
To receive apologies for absence and notification of substitutes (if any). 
 

 

B   MINUTES 
 
To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting. 

 

1 - 4 

C   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 
 
To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 

 

 

D   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
 
To answer any written questions received from members of the public no 
later than 5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this 
meeting the deadline is 5 p.m. on Thursday 4 March 2021. 

 

 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

 

1   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0338 
 
Siting of 4no. Glamping Pods with associated highways access, car parking & 
wash block 
 
Land Adj. to Olcote, Scrane End North, Freiston, Boston, PE22 0LR 
 

Mr & Mrs A. Drury 

 

5 - 24 

2   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0432 
 
Erection of a freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car parking, 
landscaping and associated works, including Customer Order Displays 
(COD), Goal Post Height Restrictor and Play Frame 
 
Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, 
Wyberton, Boston PE21 7JF 
 

McDonald's Restaurants Ltd & Carta Real 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

25 - 58 



 

 

 

 
3   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0427 

 
Advertisement consent for the installation of 1no. Internally illuminated 
Freestanding Totem Sign 
 
Land between Swineshead Road and Wortley's Lane, Boston PE21 7JF 
 
McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

 

59 - 68 

4   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0428 
 
Advertisement Consent for the installation of: 
6no. Internally Illuminated Fascia Signs 
3no. Internally Illuminated Booth Lettering Signs 
1no. Internally Illuminated Digital Booth Screen 
 
Land between Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road, Wyberton, Boston   
PE21 7JF 
 
McDonald's Restaurants Ltd 

 

69 - 78 

5   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0429 
 
Advertisement Consent for: 
Various Site Signage  
4no. Internally Illuminated Freestanding Signs 
2no. Banner Units 
1no. Play Land Sign 
23.no Dot Signs 
 
Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, 
Wyberton, Boston PE21 7JF 
 
McDonalds Restaurants Ltd 
 
 
 

Note: A planning decision comes into effect only when 
the decision notice and associated documents are 
despatched by the Local Planning Authority and not 
when the Committee makes its decision. 

 
 

 

79 - 88 

6   INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 
 
A report by the Planning Policy & Section 106 Officer 

 

89 - 108 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
Notes:  
 
The Human Rights Act 1998 
 
It is implicit in these reports that the recommendations to and the consideration by Committee will 
take into account the Council’s obligations arising out of the Human Rights Act and the rights 
conferred by Articles 6,8,14 and Article 1 of the First Protocol of the European Convention on 
Human Rights (ECHR).  These are the rights to a fair hearing, respect for family and private life, 
the prohibition against discrimination and the peaceful enjoyment of possessions, respectively.  
The ECHR allows many to be overridden if there is a sufficiently compelling public interest. 
 
In simple terms the Act requires a person’s interest be balanced against the interests of the 
community.  This is something that is part of the planning system and that balancing is a significant 
part of the consideration of issues identified to Committee by officer reports.  Provided that those 
issues are taken into account, the Convention will be satisfied. 
 
 
COMMITTEE MEMBERS: 
 
Joining instructions will be forwarded direct prior to the meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Janette Collier, 
Democratic Services, Municipal Buildings, Boston, Lincolnshire, PE21 8QR, Tel 01205 314227, e-
mail: janette.collier@boston.gov.uk. 
 
Council Members who are not able to attend the meeting should notify Janette Collier as soon as 
possible giving the name of the Council Member (if any) who will be attending the meeting as their 
substitute. 
 
 
 
Alternative Versions  
Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format such as larger text, Braille or 
a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on direct dial (01205) 314226 



PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

15 DECEMBER 2020 

Present: 
 

 

Chairman: Councillor Tom Ashton 

Vice-Chairman: 
 

Councillor Alison Austin 

Councillors: Peter Bedford, Paul Goodale, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, 
Brian Rush, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson 
and Judith Welbourn 
 

Officers: Assistant Director - Planning, Legal Advisor, Legal Services 
Lincolnshire, Planner and Democratic Services Officer 
 

79   APOLOGIES 
 

There were apologies for absence from Councillor Chelcei Trafford.   
 
80   MINUTES 

 
With the agreement of the Planning Committee Members, the Chairman signed the 
minutes of the previous Planning Committee meeting held on 28 July 2020. 
 
81   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
Standing declarations of interest were recorded for Members of this Committee who 
were also Members of Lincolnshire County Council; Members of the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee; and the Council’s Representatives on 
the Internal Drainage Boards 
 
Councillor Noble declared an interest relating to planning application B/20/0384, as he 
might have taught one of the objectors 30 years previously, but confirmed it would make 
no difference to his deliberations. 
 
82   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None. 
 
83   PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0384 

 
Full Planning Permission for a proposed two storey side extension 
 
51 South Parade, Boston, Pe21 7PN 
 
Mr & Mrs Hunt 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning presented the details of the application, as set out in 
the report. 
 
Since the publication of the agenda pack, further written representations had been 
received from the objector living in the bungalow next-door and from the applicant.  Both 

Page 1

Agenda Item B



Planning Committee 
15 December 2020 
 

letters had been circulated to Committee Members.  The majority of the points raised 
had been addressed within the report.   
 
The Assistant Director - Planning advised the Committee that he had visited the 
neighbouring bungalow the previous day, due to objector’s assertion that the Planning 
Officers’ layout plan was inaccurate.  Planning Officers had accurately reported what 
was present and reflected the impact of the proposal on this space, which would be 
minor in nature in terms of loss of light and privacy, and not sufficient to warrant a 
refusal of planning permission on those grounds.   
 
During debate, Members discussed the impact of the proposed side extension on the 
neighbouring bungalow, particularly in terms of loss of light, and concluded that it would 
not be sufficient to justify refusing planning permission.  Members generally considered 
the design of the proposal to be satisfactory and in keeping with the character of the 
area. 
 
One Member voiced an opposing view, referring to Planning Policies 2 and 3, asserting 
that the existing property did not fit in with the character of the area even before the 
extensions and that the loss of light would be unacceptable.  Some Members agreed to 
an extent, and had sympathy for the objector, but still concluded that the impact of the 
proposal was insufficient to refuse planning permission and would have less impact than 
a fence or single storey extension that could be constructed under permitted 
development rights.   
 
The Assistant Director - Planning noted the point raised during debate that the choice of 
materials for the side extension, which were subject to a condition for the planning 
authority’s approval before construction commenced, should be considered carefully by 
officers before that approval was given in order for it to fit in with the character of the 
area.   
 
It was proposed by Councillor Yvonne Stevens and seconded by Councillor Peter 
Bedford that planning permission be granted as recommended by the Planning Officers. 
 
Vote: 10 for, 1 against 
 
RESOLVED that planning permission be GRANTED, as recommended by the 
Planning Officers, subject to the following conditions and reasons: 
 
1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four 

years from the date of this permission.  
 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  

 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

application received 08-Oct-2020 and in accordance with the associated plans 
referenced:  

 Drawing Number 02 Revision A – Proposed Plans; and  

 Drawing Number 03 Revision A – Proposed Elevations.  

Page 2



Planning Committee 
15 December 2020 

 

 
Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved 
details, in the interest of residential amenity and to comply with Policies 2, 3, 4 and 
30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

  
3.  Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and/or re-
enacting that Order) during construction of the development the proposed first-floor 
windows in the rear (western) elevation of the side extension hereby permitted shall 
be non-opening and permanently glazed in obscure glass at a minimum level of no. 
3 as shown in the Pilkington five levels of obscuration privacy. Following installation, 
there shall be no changes to these windows, or any new windows added within the 
extension.  

 
Reason: To prevent a loss of privacy for 53 South Parade and to protect the level of 
amenity which would ensure the development accords with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of 
the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036.  
 

4.  No development above ground level shall take place until details of the materials 
proposed to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extensions 
hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the extensions are in keeping with the character of the area 
in accordance with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 
84   RECEIPT OF APPEALS DECISIONS 

 
The Committee considered a report, which set out the details of the results of appeal 
decisions received since the last report. 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning referred to the ten decisions, eight of which had been 
dismissed by the Inspector, which related to a range of different proposals and 
application types.  In addition, the Council had two cost claims put forward during that 
period both of which were defended by the Council and both were dismissed by the 
Inspector. 
 
Overall, the Council’s appeals performance was within national requirements.  However, 
as with all appeals, there were learning outcomes. 
 
The Assistant Director - Planning stressed that these decisions did not set a precedent 
for future consideration.  One decision highlighted the point, often reiterated, that the 
Local Plan, although adopted, was the starting point, not a rulebook, and applications 
had to be considered in the context of what the plan as a whole was trying to achieve.  
Other factors still came into the planning balance, such as the MPPF and the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development.   
 
The Chairman commented that the decisions were a vote of confidence for the work of 
the planning authority, the planning department and the Committee, particularly as 
neither of the applications for costs were awarded, a benchmark as to whether decisions 

Page 3



Planning Committee 
15 December 2020 
 

were reasonable.  The Assistant Director - Planning was asked to pass on the 
Committee’s congratulations to the team. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 10.55 am 
 

Page 4



  
 

 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0338 

 

Planning Application: 

Full Planning Permission for Siting of 4no. Glamping Pods  

with associated highways access,  

car parking & wash block 

Location: 

Land Adj. to Olcote, Scrane End North,  

Freiston, Boston, PE22 0LR 

 

Applicants: 

Mr & Mrs A. Drury 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



L ocation Plan for indicative purposes only © Crown copyright. All rights reserved 100024661 2021 

SCRANE END WEST 

SCRANE END 

SOUTH 

SCRANE END NORTH 

SITE 

= Third Party Representations 

SHORE ROAD 

 

P
age 6



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Planning Committee – 9th March 2021 
 

 

Reference No: B/20/0338 

  

Expiry Date: 25-Nov-2020 

Extension of Time:  

  

Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

Proposal: Siting of 4no. Glamping Pods with associated highways access, car 

parking & wash block  

  

Site:  Land Adj. to Olcote, Scrane End North, Freiston, Boston, PE22 0LR 

  

Applicant: Mr & Mrs A. Drury 

Agent:  Mr Guy Forman, Guy Forman Architect Ltd 

  
 

 

Ward:   Coastal Parish: Freiston Parish Council 

 

Case Officer:  Trevor Thompson Third Party Reps: Eleven 

 

Recommendation: REFUSE 

 

 

Page 7



 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 

 

1.1 This application is presented to the Planning Committee at the request of Councillor 

Welbourn who raises a number of points in favour of and against the proposal, 

including noise, proximity of other previous tourism accommodation (now closed), 

traffic considerations and notes the positives this could have on nearby facilities 

including the RSPB. 

 

1.2 Councillor Welbourn has indicated that a reduced proposal, may be more appropriate.  

 

2.0 Application Site and Proposal 

 

2.1 This application seeks full planning permission for the siting of 4no. glamping pods with 

associated highways access, car parking & wash block.  The proposed glamping pods 

will be single storey and will be about 5m long by 2.5m or so wide.   

 

2.2      Four car spaces are proposed within the site to serve this development plus a bin 

storage area and a shower/toilet block.  The proposed shower /toilet block will be sited 

near to the northern boundary of the site next to ‘Olcote’ and will be about 1.5m by 
2.1m.  Foul water will be discharged to a proposed package treatment plant within the 

site. 

 

3.0 Relevant History 

 

3.1      There have been no recent planning applications relating to this site though the 

property known an ‘Olcote’ is subject to an agricultural habitation condition. Ref 
BR319/67.  

 

3.2      This condition states: 

 

‘The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to persons employed or last employed 
locally in agriculture or to their dependents’ 

 

3.3 Planning permissions have been granted in the past for glamping pods or similar forms 

of tourist accommodation within this district that have included conditions which 

restrict when the pods may be occupied during the year given flood risk constraints 

and to ensure that the pods are used for holiday accommodation and not as 

permanent residential accommodation. 

 

4.0 Relevant Policy 

 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011-2036). 

 

4.1 The site is located within countryside as identified within the South East Lincolnshire 

Local Plan (2011-2036) (SELLP).  Scrane End is not identified within the SELLP as a 

recognised settlement. 

 

 

 

Page 8



 

 

4.2      The following policies will be relevant in the determination of this application. 

 

Policy 1 – Spatial Strategy 

This policy seeks to focus new development into existing settlements, in particular 

those with a significant service base. It sets out a settlement hierarchy, and identifies 

the types of developments that will be appropriate in each tier of the hierarchy, and in 

the countryside.  

 

Part (d) of Policy 1 of the SELLP will be specifically relevant to this proposal. It states: 

 

D. Countryside 

 

‘The rest of the Local Plan area outside the defined settlement boundaries of the Sub- 

Regional Centres, Main Service Centres, Minor Service Centre and Other Service Centres 

and Settlements is designated as Countryside. 

 

In the Countryside development will be permitted that is necessary to such a location 

and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs 

of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits’. 
 

Policy 2: Development Management 

This policy seeks to ensure that all new development will be sustainable. It sets out 

nine particular sustainable development considerations against which planning 

applications will be judged. 

 

Policy 3: Design of New Development 

This policy seeks to ensure that all new development will make a positive contribution 

to the character and quality of its surroundings. It sets out fifteen particular design 

issues against which planning applications will be judged. 

 

Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk 

This policy seeks to ensure that new development is not unnecessarily exposed to flood 

risk, and does not increase flood risk elsewhere. It identifies the process by which 

planning applications in Flood Zones 2 and 3 will be considered, and sets out particular 

requirements for applications to change the use of buildings, and for caravans, mobile 

homes, etc. 

 

Policy 9: Promoting a stronger visitor economy. 

This policy supports tourist related developments within and outside built up 

settlements subject to certain criteria being met. In particular, it says: 

 

‘… outside these settlements, small-scale development to support the visitor economy 

including farm diversification, equine development and fishing lakes will be supported 

provided that proposals: 

 

1. Do not conflict with neighbouring land uses 

2. Are in keeping with the character of the locality 

3. Demonstrate a functional link with an existing rural attraction or farm 

enterprise…..’ 

Page 9



 

 

 

Policy 28: The Natural Environment 

This policy seeks to protect, enhance and manage existing natural assets. It also seeks 

to ensure that all development proposals will provide an overall net gain in 

biodiversity. 

 

Policy 30: Pollution 

This policy seeks to ensure that new development will not have harmful environmental 

impacts, and that existing pollution will not have harmful impacts upon any 

development proposals. 

 

Policy 31: Climate Change and Renewable and Low Carbon Energy 

This policy seeks to ensure that all new developments address, minimise and mitigate 

the consequences of climate change. It supports the provision of renewable energy 

facilities (with the exception of wind energy proposals). 

 

Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking 

This policy requires all developments to provide appropriate vehicle and cycle parking. 

 

5.0 Representations 

 

5.1 As a result of publicity eleven representations have been received from the occupiers 

of the following properties: 

 

 Revedene, Scrane End North; 

 Roses Cottage Scrane End North (x2); 

 The Cottage, Scrane End South; 

 Meadow Lodge, Scrane End West; 

 Cherry Tree Cottage, Scrane End West; 

 Lintons Farm, Scrane End South; 

 Chapel House, Scrane End West; 

 Capricorn Scrane End West; 

 Boxwood House, Scrane End West; 

 The Cottage Scrane End. 

 

5.2 The objections and comments can be summarised as follows: 

 

 Impact on highway safety, increase in traffic generation (vehicular and pedestrian) 

along single track rural lanes which already struggles with local traffic and farm 

machinery and is not wide enough or suitable to accommodate extra traffic.  There 

are no passing places along the local roads. Concerns over pedestrian safety. 

 

 Site is within a quiet and peaceful rural area and development will cause noise 

disturbance especially during the evenings and will be detrimental to the area.  

Noise disturbance will affect mental health and standard of living. Concerns 

relating to noise from dogs barking and large gatherings of people. Disruption 

caused by deliveries, workman and extra traffic. Adverse impact on local 

community. 

 

Page 10



 

 

 Development will change the nature of the area and the character of this quiet 

rural hamlet. Development is not the right place for glamping pods. Development 

is not of a scale or type that respects the character and appearance of the area. 

Development will be detrimental to the area. 

 

 No specifications on what the proposed central feature will be as indicated on the 

submitted plan. 

 

 Trees and bushes will need to be removed to accommodate development. 

 

 Impact on local wildlife. There are bats, barn owls, newts and snakes in area. Has 

an ecological survey been undertaken? Removal of trees will affect wildlife habitat. 

 

 Four parking spaces will not be enough. Development will generate more traffic 

than four vehicles. Concerns that parking will spill out onto the public highway. 

 

 Occupants of the pods will cause damage to neighbour’s trees along shared 
boundary. 

 

 Property ‘Olcote’ is subject to an agricultural habitation condition. 

 

 Potential conflict between visitors and local residents and farmers. 

 

 The development is contrary to the local Plan that resists development in the area. 

 

 Impact on residential amenity, loss of privacy, concerns over security and impact 

on mental health. 

 

 Development will not benefit local community. Visitors will not use museum and 

the RSPB will not receive any revenue because visitors will walk to the nature 

reserve and will not drive there. RSPB receives income through pay and display car 

park. 

 

 Type of people that will use the pods will cause disruption and disturbance to 

wildlife. 

 

 Concerns over drainage and flooding given site is within a flood risk area. No 

drainage infrastructure for extra buildings. 

 

 Concerns that the development will help spread Covid and will affect local health. 

 

 Insufficient publicity relating to the application (note: Site notice was erected and 

neighbours notified). 

 

 Impact on air quality and health. 

 

 Proposal is anti-social development. 

 

Page 11



 

 

 Planning applications have been refused for developments that would have a 

lesser impact than this scheme. 

 

 Development will cause light pollution due to the need for external lighting. 

 

 People who wish to visit the RSPB could stay at the Plumbers Hotel which already 

struggles. 

 

 Approval will set a precedent for additional development. 

 

6.0 Consultations 

 

6.1 Freiston Parish Council has raised objections to this application and has made the 

following comments: 

 

‘The parish council agreed not to support the application drawing attention to:  

 The closeness to the neighbour’s property  
 Flooding and drainage could be an issue 

 The added provision of all services  

 Inadequate parking, only 4 spaces on the plan (i.e. cleaning staff and visitors)  

 Noise would be a huge impact in this rural setting  

 The effect it would have on local wildlife  

 

6.2 Environment Agency has not commented on this application and points out that that 

application should be assessed in relation to the Environment Agency’s Standing 
Advice. This matter is discussed below 

 

6.3      Witham Fourth District Internal Drainage Board has no objections. 

 

6.4      Environmental Health has made the following comments: 

 

‘This a relatively small scale development of 4 glamping pods in a rural location and as 
such I have no objections to this application in principle. The site does have residential 

neighbours however the layout of the units appears to have considered these and in 

addition boundaries are well screen with mature tree and shrubs (which should be 

retained). Nonetheless as with all such sites people on holiday can often sit out into the 

late evening particularly in the warmer summer months and therefore there is a 

potential for impact on neighbours amenity from raised voices and music at these 

times. The applicant resides in the adjacent house and as such is at hand to ensure such 

matters are controlled however it may be prudent to agree site rules in respect of noise 

in a similar way as planning has done elsewhere with similar developments.  

 

The applicant has stated ‘We have considered air quality as part of this development 
and do not consider there is mitigation that can be implemented as part of this 

development’. I do not agree. The applicant is to provide on-site parking and at least 

one of these parking spaces should offer an EV charging point. It is a key theme of the 

NPPF that developments should enable future users to make green vehicle choices and 

it explicitly states that low emission vehicle infrastructure, including electric vehicle (EV) 

re-charging, should be provided.  

Page 12



 

 

 

The provision of glamping pods will require the applicant once permission is granted 

and prior to occupation to apply for a caravan site licence under the provisions of the 

Caravan Site & Control of Development Act 1960. They should contact the 

Environmental Health team in this regard should consent be granted.’ 
 

6.5 Lincolnshire County Council County Highways Authority initially requested the 

applicant submit further information relating to traffic generation which has now been 

received. The County Highways Authority has made the following comments: 

 

‘The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear in it's advice, that 

developments should be resisted or refused only where the residual cumulative 

transportation impacts are severe, or that the development would have an 

unacceptable safety impact.   This is clearly not the case from the information provided 

in the Transport Statement which has given consideration to these matters and 

provided sufficient justification that this proposed development is not inherently unsafe 

in terms of traffic movement and therefore, the Highway Authority considers there will 

be insufficient evidence to support a reason for outright refusal on highway grounds’. 
 

The County highways Authority has no objections subject to one condition relating to 

highway visibility.  

 

Note: Following this recommendation, the County highway Authority has now 

withdrawn its recommendation for the imposition of a condition since all the 

land within the visibility splay is within LCC land and not the application site. 

 

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 

7.1 The key planning issues in the determination of this application are: 

 

 Whether this development accords with the objectives of policies contained within 

the SELLP in particular policies 1 and 9; 

 Flood risk and drainage; 

 Impact on highway safety; 

 Impact on the character of the area; 

 Impact on local wildlife; 

 Impact on residential amenity; 

 Other matters. 

 

Whether this development accords with the objectives of policies contained within 

the SELLP in particular Policies 1 and 9 

 

7.2    As indicated above, Policy 1 (d) of the SELLP supports certain types of development in 

the countryside where it is necessary to such a location and/or where it can be 

demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development needs of the area in terms 

of economic, community or environmental benefits. Compliance with Policy 1 can be 

achieved by satisfying either the first or second part of this policy. The supporting text 

to Policy 1 of the SELLP also gives a range of examples of the types of development 

Page 13



 

 

which may require a countryside location, including agriculture, recreation and 

tourism. 

 

7.3 Furthermore, Policy 9 of the SELLP supports tourist related development which does 

not conflict with neighbouring land uses, is in keeping with the character of the locality 

and where there is a functional link with an existing rural attraction or farm enterprise. 

 

7.4 Thus, whilst Policy 1 relates to all forms of development, the remit of Policy 9 is specific 

to tourist/visitor related development. 

 

7.5 There is clearly a marked difference between the locational requirements for 

development with regard to Policy 1 and opposed to those contained within Policy 9. 

For instance, it may be demonstrated that a proposed tourist development may have 

a direct functional link with an existing rural attraction to accord with Policy 9, it does 

not necessarily follow that the same development is necessary (emphasis added) in a 

chosen specific location to accord with Policy 1. 

 

7.6     The supporting planning statement that forms part of this application points out the 

close proximity between the site and other visitor attractions within the vicinity of the 

site including the RSPB nature reserve at Freiston Shore and the ‘We’ll Meet Again 

World War II museum at Shore Road coupled with the extensive public footpath 

network within the area and along the sea bank .The report also identifies the key 

benefits to tourism and the local economy that may arise as a result of this 

development.  

 

7.7      In this instance the applicant may argue that given the site’s close relationship with 
these nearby visitor attractions, it is therefore ‘necessary in such a location’ and 
therefore accords with the first part of Policy 1. Conversely, it may equally be argued 

that such a scheme is merely speculative and whilst it may be ideal, convenient or more 

attractive for this form of development to be within the vicinity of these attractions, 

there is no evidence which suggests that it is necessary in this location. There may be 

equally accessible and perhaps better sites within the locality of to serve these visitor 

attractions. On this basis, this application fails to accord with the first part of Policy 1 

(d). 

 

7.8     Turning to the second part of Policy 1 (d), given the scale and type of development 

proposed, it may also be argued that this scheme will also some deliver economic, 

community or environmental benefits. 

 

7.9    From an economic perspective, this scheme will provide some, limited local economic 

benefit which is likely to arise when the development is being carried out and, to a 

lesser extent, when local facilities such as shops and pubs in surrounding villages are 

being used by the tourists when the pods are occupied.  

 

7.10   From an environmental perspective, whilst this scheme provides no enhancement to 

biodiversity and that some existing landscaping and potentially wildlife habitat would 

need to be removed to facilitate the proposed access and parking, such harm can be 

counterbalanced by the provision of additional nest boxes and the like within the site 

which may be secured by condition.  

Page 14



 

 

 

7.11   In terms of community benefits, this scheme may provide some additional tourist 

accommodation which in turn may provide some social benefit to the wider 

community and may deliver a well-designed and safe built environment which reflects 

current and supports the local communities’ health, social and cultural well-being.  

 

7.12    Collectively it may be argued that this scheme therefore accords with the second part 

of Policy 1 (d).  

 

7.13   However, this scheme may also cause significant harm to the character of the area and 

erode residential amenity and would therefore provide insufficient local community 

benefit. This would conflict with this element of Policy 1 (d). Such matters are discussed 

below. 

 

7.14    Turning now to the three elements Policy 9 of the SELLP. The matter of whether the 

proposed development conflicts with neighbouring land uses or is in keeping with the 

character of the locality are issues that are discussed further below. 

 

7.15 Whether this scheme forms a direct ‘functional link with an existing rural attraction or 

farm enterprise’ as required by this policy is equally a subjective issue.  This  policy 

does not necessarily require the rural attraction to be on the same site as the tourist 

related development,  but it would be argued that such attractions need to be easily 

accessible and within the immediate vicinity of the site. In this instance the WW2 

museum, the RSPB nature reserve, the nearby marshlands and the extensive public 

footpath network are also within easy reach, both pedestrian and vehicular, of the 

application site.  Furthermore, given the scheme is small in scale both in nature and 

form, it may be argued that it will be commensurate with the functional links to these 

visitor attractions.  In other words the scale of the proposed development is not so 

great that the links with the visitor attractions become incidental. On this basis, it is 

considered that this development, in part meets this element of Policy 9. 

 

Flood risk and drainage. 

 

7.16 The site is within a high risk flood area, close to The Wash and according to the 

Environment Agency’s 2115 1:1000 year hazard and depth maps, the site is within a 
‘danger for all’ flood hazard with depths of over 1.6m.  The proposed development is 

identified as ‘more vulnerable’ and the Environment Agency’s Standing Advice 
indicates that the appropriate mitigation would be restricting accommodation 

between 1st November (or the following Sunday if half term extends into November) 

in any one year and to 14th March in the succeeding year. The submitted FRA also 

concludes that occupation is restricted during these periods.  

 

7.17 The FRA indicates that the floor level of the pods will be raised by 300mm above 

existing ground level and says: 

 

‘The restricted season will ensure that the building is not occupied during the winter 

months when the likelihood of flooding is increased due to the chance of coastal storms 

and tidal surges. In addition to the occupancy restriction, a robust evacuation and 

warning plan will be prepared, and the holiday lets would not be occupied when a serve 

Page 15



 

 

flood warning has been issued by the Environment Agency for the area. This will ensure 

that the development remains safe for its residents when taking in to account the 

restricted occupancy period. The ground floor level for the holiday lets would be below 

the predicted flood level, following a breach or overtopping of the flood defences, which 

may result in some damage to the pods’ 
 

7.18 Given that ‘half term’ varies considerably from one educational body to another would 

indicate that the recommended planning condition as stated in the ‘Standing Advice’ 
would not be precise or enforceable.  On this basis, it would not meet the relevant 

tests laid out with the NPPG.  Therefore, should planning permission be granted for 

this scheme, a condition which simply limits occupancy between 1st November to 14th 

March the following year would be more appropriate and would accord with the 

objectives of the NPPG. 

 

7.19 With regard to the discharge of surface water, it is proposed that the surface water 

runoff from the proposed glamping pods will discharge onto the surrounding ground 

and infiltrate into the ground at the existing rates.  Foul drainage from the glamping 

pods will be collected in underground pipes and connected into a package treatment 

unit. No details have been submitted which shows the location of the proposed 

package treatment unit nor of the underground pipes that will serve it. 

 

7.20 Concerns have been expressed by some neighbours regarding drainage and flooding.  

Given the type, layout and scale of the development proposed, it is unlikely that this 

development will cause third party flooding.  However, should planning permission be 

granted for this scheme, it is recommended that conditions that require the 

submission of details of the surface water and foul water disposal schemes for 

approval are imposed.  

 

7.21 On this basis, it is considered that there are insufficient reasons to refuse this 

application on the grounds of flood risk and drainage. 

 

Impact on highway safety 

 

7.22 The roads fronting the site and within the site’s locality are narrow, rural highways with 
no footpaths, no street lighting and very few opportunities for oncoming vehicles to 

pass.  

 

7.23 It is proposed to construct a new vehicular access with a 4m radius onto this road to 

serve the proposed development which will include the removal of part of the fronting 

hedge.  As indicated above, it is intending to provide four car spaces plus a turning area 

within the site. The surface material of the car park and turning facility will be gravel. 

The proposed vehicular access will be about 45m from the road junction to the south 

east and over 600m from the junction to the north with Shore Road. 

 

7.24 Concerns have been expressed about the ability of the local highway network to 

accommodate the proposed development. The County Highway Authority initially 

raised concerns and requested that the applicant submitted a transport statement 

which has now been submitted. The Transport Statement states: 

 

Page 16



 

 

‘This planning application is for the siting of just four Glamping Pods at Olcote, Scrane 
End, Freiston.  This modest proposal will have minimal, if any, impact on the existing 

Highway Infrastructure. It should be noted that this tourist accommodation is aimed at 

bird watchers, ramblers and nature conservationists who may already frequent the 

immediate local area to enjoy Freiston Shore Nature Reserve which is managed by the 

RSPB.  With the RSPB stating that The Wash is the ‘UK’s most important estuary for 
wildlife, where you can get excellent views of large groups of waders on the salt water 

lagoon at high tide’, Freiston already receives regular numbers of visitors every year to 
enjoy this unique area and its associated birds and wildlife. 

 

Accordingly, it may be considered that the increase in traffic to the area will be of little 

or no impact. With that said, the applicant is intending to implement the following 

measures: 

 

- All traffic would be directed to the above address via the road Scrane End N, and so 

therefore visitors would only be passing one other residence before arriving at the site. 

- There will be a staggard arrival and departure system to address any congestion on 

the approach or departure to or from the site on exchange day. 

 

- On Exchange Day: 

Pod One will depart at 10.00am and new arrivals at 1.00pm 

Pod Two will depart at 10.30 am and new arrivals at 1.30pm 

Pod Three will depart at 11.00am and new arrivals at 2.00pm 

Pod Four will depart at 11.30am and new arrivals at 2.30pm 

 

It should be clearly noted that each Pod has only a single room and would only be able 

to accommodate a maximum of two adults and an infant at any one time. Accordingly, 

there will never be more than one vehicle per Glamping pod (no more than four in 

total). Further to this, it is the intention of the applicant for themselves to manage and 

clean the glamping pods on changeover. With the applicant residing in the adjacent 

dwelling known as ‘Olcote’, this means there will be no additional traffic created from 
any employees. 

 

           The type of people this holiday accommodation is aimed at (predominantly single/ 

couples who have an interest in bird-watching, nature and rambling), means the people 

who shall come to Freiston will have come to walk and experience the immediate 

locality and its associated special wildlife.’ 
 

7.25 The County Highway Authority has made the following comments on the   submitted 

Transport Statement; 

 

‘The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear in its advice, that 
developments should be resisted or refused only where the residual cumulative 

transportation impacts are severe, or that the development would have an 

unacceptable safety impact. This is clearly not the case from the information provided 

in the Transport Statement which has given consideration to these matters and 

provided sufficient justification that this proposed development is not inherently unsafe 

in terms of traffic movement and therefore, the Highway Authority considers there will 

be insufficient evidence to support a reason for outright refusal on highway grounds’. 

Page 17



 

 

 

7.26 Initially, the County Highway Authority recommended that a condition should be 

attached to any permission granted that restricted obstacles over a certain height 

within the identified highway visibility splays. However, upon assessment of the LCCs 

current ‘liability for maintenance plans’ it appears that the land shown within the 

visibility splays on the submitted plan is within the ownership of the Lincolnshire 

County Council.  Therefore the recommended condition is no longer necessary. 

 

7.27 The concerns expressed by the neighbouring residents are understandable given the 

nature and condition of the surrounding highway network.  Nevertheless, it is likely 

that the traffic that would be generated by this scheme will be light and infrequent, 

even if all four pods are in use at one time. There may be times when approaching 

vehicles will have to slow down and make the necessary manoeuvres to enable such 

vehicles to pass one another but this occurrence is not unique to the area and is likely 

to be an everyday occurrence. The traffic that may be generated by this development 

will perhaps add to such events occurring but not to the detriment of highway safety. 

It is likely that the main disruption to the highway will be during the construction and 

installation period which will be temporary and short term. 

 

7.28 The fact that there is no street lighting along the surrounding highway or footpaths 

may give rise to concerns relating to pedestrian safety, especially with regard to the 

holidaymakers using the proposed pods who may wish to walk from the site to the 

local attractions.  That may be the case, though it may be equally argued that the same 

concerns relate to the local residents of Scrane End who may also walk along the local 

highway network as part of their everyday life. 

 

7.29 Overall, it is considered that although the highway network is not ideal, in capacity, 

condition or nature, there is insufficient justification to refuse the application on 

highway grounds. 

 

Impact on the character of the area 

 

7.30 The application site is located within a small hamlet which consists of around 21 

dwellings, including the host property known as ‘Olcote’ which fronts onto Scrane End 

North. The hamlet is concentrated around a cross road junction with roads running 

roughly in a north-south and east –west direction leading from the junction. Scrane 

End is not defined as a recognised settlement in the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

and is defined as being within countryside. The application site is also within 

countryside as defined within the SELLP.   

 

7.31 The surrounding area may be described as essentially countryside, dominated by open, 

flat agricultural fields complemented by a loose scattering of dwellings and agricultural 

buildings of various types and designs located at random intervals along either side of 

these surrounding roads. In design terms, there is no strong local vernacular. The site 

is not within an area of local landscape value. 

 

7.32 Some neighbours are concerned that the proposed development and the use of the 

pods by holiday makers will change the nature and the character of the area. Some 

neighbours also consider that the proposed development is not the right place for 

Page 18



 

 

glamping pods and is not of a scale or type that respects the character and appearance 

of the area.  

 

7.33 The installation of four glamping pods which will individually consist of a single room 

which according to the applicant, would only be able to accommodate a maximum of 

two adults and possibly a small child at any one time is a very small scheme given the 

site’s context and relationship with the surrounding area. 
 

7.34 The nearest pod to the road fronting the site will be about 17m away and the site’s 
perimeter is extensively landscaped which if required could be strengthened by 

condition.  The height of the pods will be around 2.5m high.  It is considered in physical 

terms, the scale, amount and nature of the proposed pods will not cause harm to the 

character of the area or the built form of the hamlet. 

 

7.35 Also, in land use terms, it is not uncommon for such recreation and holiday related 

developments to be located within both urban or countryside without causing 

detriment to the character of such an area. 

 

7.36 Some neighbours are also concerned that the occupiers of the proposed pods will 

cause noise and disruption which will be alien to the peace and tranquillity of the area. 

However, the impact that this development may have on the residential amenity in 

terms of noise and disturbance is another matter which is discussed in detail below. 

 

Impact on local wildlife 

 

7.37 Some neighbours and the Freiston Parish Council have expressed concerns about the 

impact that this development may have upon wildlife.  Some neighbours also point out 

that there are bats, barn owls, newts and snakes in the area and that the removal of 

trees will affect wildlife habitat.  No ecological survey has been submitted with this 

application though it should also be noted that no evidence has been submitted by any 

third party which clearly demonstrates that the site is currently or has been used a 

wildlife habitat and if so, by which species, how often and whether such use is subject 

to seasonal variations. 

 

7.38 The site is a domestic garden area and it is not within a designated local wildlife site, 

SSSI or similar protected area. However as with most domestic gardens, some wildlife 

are bound to be present especially given the amount of trees and bushes in and around 

the site and its remote location. Nevertheless, given the scale and nature of the 

scheme, it is not considered that this development, with regards to the pods 

themselves or the type of people who will likely occupy the pods in this remote 

location, will harm wildlife or undermine wildlife habitat.  As indicated above, the 

proposed tourist accommodation is aimed at bird watchers, ramblers and nature 

conservationists. 

 

7.39 The application will involve the removal of part of the frontage hedge so it may be the 

case that this application will result in some loss to wildlife habitat.  Should planning 

permission be granted, it is recommended that a condition which requires biodiversity 

enhancement within the site be imposed. 

 

Page 19



 

 

Impact on residential amenity 

 

7.40 SELLP Policy 2 and 3 advocate that a proposed development should consider if there is 

an impact on the amenity of the site and neighbouring sites as well as the impact upon 

neighbouring land uses in terms of noise, odour, disturbance or visual intrusion. 

 

7.41 Policy 30 of the SELLP (pollution) in part echoes the objectives of Policies 2 and 3 and 

seeks to ensure that new development will not have harmful environmental impacts. 

It says in part that development proposals will not be permitted where, taking account 

of any proposed mitigation measures, they would lead to unacceptable adverse 

impacts upon the on amenity from existing uses. 

 

7.42 Furthermore, paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) seeks, amongst other things, to create 

places that are safe, inclusive and accessible and which promote health and well-being, 

with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users and where crime and 

disorder, and the fear of crime, do not undermine the quality of life or community 

cohesion and resilience. 

 

7.43 The application site forms part of the side garden area that serves a property known 

as ‘Olcote’. This property, including land to the front and to the rear, are outlined in 
blue on the submitted location plan and is land that is owned or controlled by the 

applicant. There is a neighbouring property to the south of the site known as ‘Roses 
Cottage’ which lies next to the road junction and there are further dwellings within the 
immediate vicinty  within this hamlet further along the local highway network. Further 

to the north, there is a dwelling known as ‘Revedene’ which lies adjacant to ‘Olcote’. 
 

7.44 As indicated above, many local residents have raised objections to this application on 

the grounds that it will harm residential amenity. Whilst this scheme may result in an 

increase in pedestrian traffic and vehicular traffic which may cause some noise 

disturbance, such traffic is likely to be light, infrequent and seasonal. Indeed, as 

indicated above, any permission granted is likely to be subject to a condition which 

restricts occupation from 1st November to the 14th March.  On this basis, it is unlikely 

that noise specifically from pedestrian or vehicles generated by this development 

along the various highway network would be severe or harmful to local residents. Nor 

is it considered that tourists walking along the highways or public footpaths in the area 

would undermine privacy, conflict with local residents, affect mental health or well 

being, cause anti- social behavior or cause harm to the residents’ standard of living or 

quality of life. 

 

7.45 Furthemore, it is considered that given the size, height and distance of the proposed 

pods from the site’s western boundary and Roses Cottages to the south, it is unlikely 
that the pods, in physical terms, will affect the amenity of the occupiers of the adjacant 

property. The proposed pods are of a reasonable design, will not erode sunlight or 

daylight provision, will not cause any overlooking or overshadowing or undermine 

privacy. 

 

7.46 However, the land use of the proposed development will also cause some harm to 

neighbouring residents, especially to the occupiers of Roses Cottage by virtue of noise 

and disturbance generated by the tourists especially during the evenings of the 

Page 20



 

 

summer months when more time is likely to be spent by the neighbours within their 

own garden area. Taking into account the proposed layout and the comments from 

Environmental Health, it may still be argued that this development would intensify 

activities within the garden area of ‘Olcote’ to an unacceptable level during such 
periods.  It is considered this would be well above levels which neighbouring residents 

would consider reasonable to be conducted from a single residential property.  This 

would lead to an unacceptable living environment to the occupiers of Roses Cottage in 

particular. 

 

7.47 It is therefore considered that this application is contrary to the objectives of Policies 

2, 3, 9 and 30 of the SELLP. 

 

 

Other matters 

 

7.48 As indicated above, the property known as ‘Olcote’ is subject to an agricultural 
habitation condition. This condition states : 

 

‘The occupation of the dwelling shall be limited to persons employed or last employed 
locally in agriculture or to their dependents’ 
 

7.49 Should planning permission be granted for this scheme, it may be the case that the 

development may affect the ability of the occupiers of the property to comply with the 

requirements of the aforementioned condition.  The applicant was asked to elaborate 

on this matter and the applicant’s agent has submitted the following information: 
 

 There is no agricultural holding associated with the property now. 

 Mr & Mrs Drury were aware of the agricultural tie when they bought the property 

and I can confirm they comply with Condition 4 of the original decision notice for 

the dwelling with Mr Drury having worked in agriculture since leaving school. 

 For 41 years Mr Drury has worked for John Saul Limited at nearby Leverton (approx. 

3 miles away from Scrane End). There is a link here to the website to this long 

established farming company, with Mr Drury shown on the 'Meet the Team' page. 

 The 4 x glamping pods proposed in the grounds of 'Olcote' are by no means a means 

of replacing Mr Drury's  current job/ income with John Saul Limited, but rather a 

proposal to supplement Mr & Mrs Dury's combined income. As you may appreciate 

4 x glamping pods will never be able to provide a full time income for any person. 

It should be noted Mr & Mrs Drury are not just doing this for a source of extra 

income but also because they are passionate about the local countryside and 

wildlife they live within and by nature are sociable people who wish to share the 

special area that is Freiston Shore.  

 

7.50 On this basis, it would appear that any approval of this application would have no 

effect on the ability of the applicant to comply with the requirements of this condition. 

However, such matters can only be formally established by the submission of an 

application for a Lawful Development Certificate. 

 

  

Page 21



 

 

Planning balance 

 

7.51 As indicated above, there are factors that weigh both for and against the application.  

 

7.52 From an economic perspective, this scheme will provide some, limited local economic 

benefit. There will be benefits for local businesses during the development period in 

the supply chain as well as an increase in spending in the area when the pods are 

occupied.  

 

7.53 From an environmental perspective, whilst it is not proposed to provide any 

enhancement to biodiversity and that some existing landscaping and potentially 

wildlife habitat would need to be removed to facilitate the proposed access and 

parking, such harm can be counterbalanced by the provision of additional nest boxes 

and additional landscaping within and around the site the site which may be secured 

by condition. This will ensure a net gain to biodiversity. 

 

7.54 However, in terms of community benefits this application fails. Although this scheme 

may provide some additional tourist accommodation which in turn may provide some 

social benefit to the well- being of the wider community, it will also cause significant 

harm to residential amenity. Furthermore, this application has attracted significant 

objections from local residents, especially given the limited size of Scrane End, and also 

from Freiston Parish Council. These are significant factors against the application in the 

planning balance which attracts substantial weight. These factors against the 

application should be set against the benefits identified above. 

 

7.55 It is considered that the benefits of the scheme outlined above would not overcome 

the significant harm to residential amenity, in particular the living conditions of the 

occupiers of Roses Cottage. As such the application conflicts with Policies 1, 2, 3, 9 and 

30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 

 Summary and Conclusion 

 

7.56 It is considered that insufficient evidence has been submitted that demonstrates that 

this development is necessary at the application site or that it will meet the sustainable 

development needs in the area, in terms of economic, community and environmental 

benefit in accordance with Policy 1(d).  Furthermore, it is considered that the proposed 

development conflicts with neighbouring land uses and will cause significant harm to 

residential amenity, in terms of noise and disturbance, contrary to the objectives of 

Policies 2, 3, 9 and 30 of the SELLP. 

 

8.0 Recommendation 

 

8.1 It is recommended that Committee REFUSE this application for the following reasons: 

 

Reason 1: Insufficient evidence has been submitted that demonstrates that the proposed 

development is necessary in this location and/or will provide the sustainable 

development needs of the area in terms of community benefits.  As such the 

proposed development is contrary to the objectives of Policy 1 (d) of the South 

East Lincolnshire Local Plan.  

Page 22



 

 

 

Reason 2: The proposed development will generate significant noise and general 

disturbance, especially during the evenings of the summer months, that will be 

harmful to residential amenity and the quiet and peaceful living conditions of 

nearby residents in this relatively remote location, in particular the occupiers 

of Roses Cottage, Scrane End which lies adjacent to the site. This development 

is therefore contrary to the objectives of Policies 2, 3, 9 and 30 of the South 

East Lincolnshire Local Plan and paragraph 127 of the NPPF (2019) which seeks, 

amongst other things, to create places which promote health and well-being, 

with a high standard of amenity for existing and future users. 

 

Page 23



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 24



  
 

 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0432 

 

Planning Application: 

Full Planning Permission 

Erection of a freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility,  

car parking, landscaping and associated works,  

including Customer Order Displays (COD),  

Goal Post Height Restrictor and Play Frame 

Location: 

Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, 

Applicant: 

McDonald's Restaurants Ltd & Carta Real 

Page 25

Agenda Item 2



= Third Party Representations 

 
(Additional representations received 
outside area captured on map: 68 
Rosebery Avenue, Boston & 255 
WIllington Road, Kirton.) 

TESCO 

SITE 

© Crown copyright. All rights reserved 100024661 2021 L ocation Plan for indicative purposes only 

 

P
age 26



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

Planning Committee – 9th March 2021 
 

 

Reference No: B/20/0432 

  

Expiry Date: 19-Jan-2021 

Extension of Time: 05-Feb-2021 

  

Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

Proposal: Erection of a freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car 

parking, landscaping and associated works, including Customer 

Order Displays (COD), Goal Post Height Restrictor and Play Frame 

  

Site:  Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, 

Wyberton, Boston PE21 7JF 

  

Applicant: McDonald's Restaurants Ltd & Carta Real 

Agent:  Mr Benjamin Fox, Planware Ltd 

  

 

Ward:   Wyberton Parish: Wyberton Parish Council 

 

Case Officer:  Simon Eldred Third Party Reps: 4 received 

 

Recommendation: GRANT Planning Permission 

Page 27



 

 

 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 

 

1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by 

Councillor Richard Austin, who states that the reasons for the call-in are 

“safeguarding of route for distributor road, tail backs onto public road, lack of 
footpath on West End Road, and litter issues.” 

 

2.0 Application Site and Proposal 

 

2.1 The application site is located to the south of Swineshead Road and east of Wortleys 

Lane, Boston. It consists of 0.52 hectares of a larger agricultural field which was 

uncultivated at the time of the site visit. It is located in a part of the town where uses 

are very mixed, with: 

 To its west, dwellings (off both Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road), and 

industrial premises (which are allocated in the Local Plan for residential 

redevelopment (85 dwellings)); 

 To its north, dwellings  under construction on the northern side of 

Swineshead Road and (beyond the New Hammond Beck Drain) edge-of-

town retail premises; 

 To its east, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, a 

farm shop, a business selling garden buildings, two public houses, and land 

on which planning permission is being exercised for the construction of a 

drive-thru coffee shop; and 

 To its south, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, and 

land on which planning permission is outstanding for the construction of 

further dwellings. 

 

2.2 The application is for the construction of a restaurant/drive-thru (proposed to open 

24 hours per day) and, in more detail, the proposed development consists of: 

 A new Access Road (which is also intended to serve ‘a wider retail park 
development’), oriented southwards from the existing roundabout at the 

junction of the A52/Swineshead Road with Westbridge Road; 

 A new roadway, providing access into and within the restaurant curtilage, 

leading off the Access Road; 

 Drive-thru lanes with two Customer Order Displays; 

 A single-storey restaurant/drive-thru building, with a gross internal 

floorspace of 402m2 and a dining area 137m2, providing 136 seats. The 

building will: be flat-roofed; stand 5.835m high at its tallest point; have 

large areas of glazing in its eastern and southern elevations; and be finished 

in timber-effect and stone-effect cladding panels, and dark-grey engineering 

bricks, with white-coloured canopies to all elevations; 

 An attached corral area, finished in grey cladding panels;  

 48 car parking spaces (including 2 accessible bays), and 4 bicycle stands 

(providing parking for 8 bicycles); 

 An outdoor patio area with tables and chairs and a children’s play space/ 

outdoor climbing frame; and 

Page 28



 

 

 Surrounding landscaping including grassed areas, an area of ornamental 

shrub planting, and new trees.  

 

2.3 The application is accompanied by: 

 a Supporting Statement; 

 a Flood Risk Assessment; 

 a Drainage Maintenance Plan; 

 an Odour Control Assessment; 

 a Lighting Layout and Specification; 

 an Air Quality Screening Assessment; 

 a Litter Management Plan; 

 a Travel Plan; 

 a Transport Assessment; 

 a Tree Survey and Arboricultural Impact Assessment; 

 a Noise Assessment; and 

 a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report. 

Additional information and responses have also been provided by the agent and their 

technical consultants over the life of the application, seeking to respond to any 

concerns or issues that have arisen. 

 

3.0 Relevant History 

 

3.1 The site has no relevant planning history, but is affected by three further applications 

which are the subjects of reports to this meeting of the Planning Committee, namely: 

 B/20/0427 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 

1 internally illuminated freestanding totem sign; 

 B/20/0428 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 

10 internally illuminated signs; and 

 B/20/0429 – Application for Advertisement Consent for various site 

signage. 

 

3.2 Recent history in the wider area which is of potential relevance includes: 

 Full Planning Permission (B/19/0169) was granted in September 2019 for a 

proposed affordable housing scheme providing 25 dwellings on land 10m 

to the north-west of the application site; and 

 Full Planning Permission (B/19/0519) was granted in December 2019 for 

the construction of a drive-thru coffee shop on land 155m to east of the 

application site. 

Both of these permissions have been exercised, with the residential scheme largely 

complete and works on the coffee shop at an early stage. 

 

4.0 Relevant Policy 

 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

 

4.1 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 shows the application site as being 

within the Countryside, immediately adjacent to Boston’s Settlement Boundary and 
within the Safeguarding Corridor. Land to the west of the application site (on the 

Page 29



 

 

opposite side of Wortleys Lane) is identified as Housing Allocation Wyb013 where 85 

dwellings are expected to be built. The relevant Policies for this application are:  

 Policy 1: Spatial Strategy; 

 Policy 2: Development Management;  

 Policy 3: Design of New Development; 

 Policy 4: Approach to Flood Risk; 

 Policy 24: The Retail Hierarchy; 

 Policy 28: The Natural Environment; 

 Policy 29: The Historic Environment; 

 Policy 30: Pollution; 

 Policy 32: Community, Health and Well-being; 

 Policy 33: Delivering a More Sustainable Transport Network; 

 Policy 34: Delivering the Boston Distributor Road; and 

 Policy 36: Vehicle and Cycle Parking. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

4.2 At the heart of the 2019 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:  

 Section 2 : Achieving sustainable development; 

 Section 6 : Building a strong, competitive economy; 

 Section 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres; 

 Section 8: Promoting sustainable transport; 

 Section 12: Achieving well designed places; 

 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change; 

 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment; and 

 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 

 

5.0 Representations 

 

5.1 As a result of publicity, 4 letters of objection have been received – 3 from local 

residents and 1 from the Boston Woods Trust 

 

5.2 The objections can be summarised as follows: 

 The proposal will lead to the littering of takeaway packaging, which will: have 

harmful impacts upon the character and appearance of the locality, wildlife, 

and the quality of life of local residents; and necessitate additional financial 

cost for the disposal of waste from the Boston Woods Trust car parks. To 

tackle this issue: 

1. takeaway containers should be stamped with car registration numbers; 

2. the applicant should employ a litter patrol; and 

3. the applicant should support the Boston Woods Trust’s waste disposal 
activities financially and/or with staff volunteers. 

 The proposal will lead to increased anti-social behaviour locally; 

 The proposal would be more appropriate on the Quadrant development; and 

 The proposal will worsen existing traffic congestion in the area. 

 

 

Page 30



 

 

6.0 Consultations 

 

6.1 The Health and Safety Executive indicates that it does not advise against the granting 

of consent. 

 

6.2 Boston Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department indicates that it agrees 

with the conclusions of the Noise Assessment which accompanies the application 

that: 

 The restaurant could trade on an unrestricted basis without associated noise 

causing significant adverse impact upon nearby residential properties; but that a 

condition should be attached requiring the prior approval of plant and machinery, 

and ensuring that sound levels emitted from the site at the nearest residential 

premises will not exceed 45 dBa between 0700 and 2300 hours, and 34 dBa at all 

other times;  

 It agrees with the conclusions of the Air Quality Screening Assessment which 

accompanies the application that the proposed restaurant: 

 Will not impact the current Air Quality Management Areas in the town, and may 

lead to a reduction in traffic using the current Queen Street McDonalds; and 

 Will not result in poor air quality in the vicinity of the site itself; 

 No issues with odour are foreseen, given that the extraction system that is 

proposed to be used is the same as at the Queen Street restaurant, where no 

complaints of odour have been received; 

 The area is well-lit and consequently the predicted light levels at the site 

boundaries should not result in nuisance to nearby residential properties; and 

 The site is currently in agricultural use and is not known to have been put to any 

other use. Risks from ground contamination to public health are therefore very 

low, but it would nonetheless be prudent to attach a condition to deal with any 

‘unforeseen’ contamination that may be detected during development. 
 

6.3 Cadent Gas: 

 Identifies that there are high or intermediate pressure gas pipelines and 

associated equipment in the vicinity of the application site; 

 Does not object to the proposal, but asks for the following informative to be 

raised with the applicant “Cadent has a 273mm High Pressure gas pipeline close 
to the edge of the development application. It holds a deed of grant for a legal 

easement on this High Pressure gas pipeline and no development is permitted 

inside the easement without Cadent’s written permission. Cadent will need to be 
approached and liaised with before work commences as it may have pipeline 

protection measures that need to be adhered to.” 

 

6.4 Heritage Lincolnshire indicates that the application site: 

 Forms part of the setting to a Grade II listed milepost. The current grass verge and 

open character are sympathetic to the milestone’s character, but the proposed 

boundary fencing will adversely affect its setting. A post and rail fence with 

hedging to its rear would better maintain the rural character and would help to 

mitigate the impact of the development on the listed milepost’s setting; and 

Page 31



 

 

 Potentially contains archaeological remains, based upon the extent and type of 

remains previously recorded in the vicinity, and asks that a condition be attached 

to require site investigation and recording prior to development taking place. 

 

6.5 The Environment Agency indicates that the proposed development will meet the 

requirements of the NPPF provided a condition is attached to require the 

development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk 

Assessment (FRA).  The Agency also advises that a Flood Warning and Evacuation 

Plan is produced, and that future occupants sign up to Floodline Warnings Direct. 

 

6.6 Wyberton Parish Council indicates that, whilst the restaurant may create 

employment and may help to reduce traffic congestion in the town centre, it may 

also lead to extra litter locally, increase traffic numbers locally – potentially creating 

traffic congestion and posing a risk to pedestrians and cyclists. Consequently, the 

Parish Council asks that: 

 The applicant should make a contribution towards the construction of a 

path/cycleway on West End Road; 

 The potential for congestion in the area should be taken into consideration; 

 An area should be provided for “vehicles to park up with the takeaway and 
plenty of bins to help minimise litter in the area including the wooded areas”; 

 The applicant should work with local groups for litter picking; 

 Takeaway containers should be in biodegradable materials; and 

 Takeaway containers should be stamped with car registration numbers to 

enable those responsible for littering to be traced. 

 

6.7 Lincolnshire County Council (the Local Highway and Lead Local Flood Authority) 

indicates that: 

 The application site falls within the safeguarding corridor for the Boston 

Distributor Road (BDR) identified in the Local Plan and “prior to the 
determination of this application, … advises that the necessary assessment 
work is undertaken to satisfy the determining authority that the 

development … will not restrict the future delivery of the BDR”; 

 

 The following condition should be attached to any approval “Prior to the 
commencement of any other part of the development hereby permitted, the 

proposed fourth arm of the existing A52/Westbridge Road roundabout shall 

be completed in accordance with the details that shall first be approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason – In the interests of the 

safety and free passage of those using the adjacent public highway and of 

providing safe and suitable access to the permitted development.”; 

 

 The Highway Authority would not wish to adopt the proposed Access Road 

because initially “the road, would serve nothing more that the proposed 

McDonalds restaurant”; and “until such time as the road is further extended, 
the proposals to manage the surface water run-off for this initial part of the 

road involve taking that water through the restaurant site via an 

underground attenuation and storage device that relies on the vigilance and 

maintenance of the restaurant staff”; 

 

Page 32



 

 

 “The drainage of the site proposes an attenuated discharge into an existing 

watercourse on the west side of the site.  This watercourse relies upon a 

culvert that is purported to run northwards, under the A52, across third-party 

land before discharging into the New Hammond Beck. In the interests of 

avoiding surface water flood risk to the application site and adjacent land 

and property, it is strongly recommended that the Applicants be required to 

demonstrate the existence, viability and suitability of this drainage route 

before commencement of any part of the development.”; 

 

 “The vehicular access into the proposed restaurant involves the use of a 

right-turn lane on the proposed new spur road off the A52 roundabout which 

is just a short distance from the roundabout. This will be acceptable to serve 

the proposed development because the spur road serves no other purpose 

than to provide access to the restaurant. There will be no other, on-coming 

traffic approaching the roundabout from the opposite direction. What is not 

possible to determine at this time is whether that right-turn lane would be 

adequate should there be further development served by this road or indeed 

should this spur become part of the Boston Distributor Road.”; 

 

 “The submitted details advise that the proposed internal layout would 

provide sufficient space for the vehicles of drive-through customers to queue 

within the site, so that the queue would not tail-back out of the restaurant 

site or onto the A52.  Whilst this may be supported by empirical data drawn 

from other McDonald’s sites, the experience in this County, and in particular 

at Boston's Queen Street outlet, is that notwithstanding that data, traffic 

frequently queues back onto the adjacent public highway.  It is therefore 

suggested that the internal layout of the site be designed so that the entirety 

of the queue lane, from the site entrance to the pay-point, is two vehicles 

wide.  This should be achievable by amendment to the submitted layout. The 

highway authority would not be able to confirm or disprove the contention 

within the submitted details, that the proposed development would be 

expected to result in transference of custom from the existing outlet in 

Queen Street, Boston and thereby possibly reduce the vehicle queuing at the 

Queen Street site.”; 

 

 “The submitted information advises the proposed development is in 

compliance with the minimum car parking standards set-out within the 

South-East Lincolnshire Local Plan.”; and 

 

 “The highway authority is not of the opinion that the proposed development 

would be unacceptable in planning terms without the provision of a 

cycleway/footway along West End Road.” 

 

6.8 The Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board indicates that: 

 Rainfall runoff: 

 The prior written consent of the Board will be required for the proposed 

discharge of surface water from the development  into an adjacent 

watercourse (and, where possible, discharges should be limited to 

1.4ltrs/sec/Ha.); 

Page 33



 

 

 It is understood that the development’s proposed drainage system will 
also receive surface water from the adjacent link road, albeit on a 

temporary basis. If this is the case, the applicant must declare the 

additional impermeable area to be drained within any application to the 

Board; 

 All drainage routes through the site should be maintained both during 

the works and after completion of the works. Provisions should be made 

to ensure that upstream and downstream riparian owners and those 

areas that ae presently served by any drainage routes passing through or 

adjacent to the site are not adversely affected by the development; 

 Consideration must be given to the route downstream of the site from 

the discharge point to an appropriately maintained watercourse. The 

applicant will be expected to carry out off-site works or increased 

maintenance  required to safeguard the site discharge for the life of the 

development, including any necessary maintenance to any adjacent 

piped culverts along the route of flow; 

 A permanent undeveloped strip (of sufficient width to allow future 

maintenance work) must be created adjacent to the top of the bank of 

all watercourses bounding the development; 

 Full details of any surface water schemes for the proposed development 

should be submitted to the local planning authority for consideration, 

and approval received in writing from that authority, prior to any 

discharge from the site; 

 

 Discharge Outfalls 

 If the proposed surface water discharge outfall is into an adjacent 

watercourse, prior written consent will be required from the Board for 

any structures placed in the bank as per Section 23 of the Land Drainage 

Act 1991; 

 

 Filling in or Culverting Watercourses: 

 The ownership and maintenance of watercourses within the applicant’s 
land registry boundaries  (including any existing piped culverts or other 

structures within the confines of the watercourses) lies with the 

applicant and their successors; 

 If the applicant intends to install new piped structures within 

watercourses, the prior written consent of the Board is required under 

Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991; 

 

 Site Ground Levels 

 The existing ground level of the site should not be raised above the level 

of any surrounding land unless measures are taken, to the satisfaction of 

the local planning authority, to prevent possible flooding or waterlogging 

of any neighbouring land or property. 

 

6.9 Councillor Tracey Abbott indicates that there are grave concerns that the proposed 

development will cause more traffic holdups and problems on roads which are 

already busy; considers that a third drive-through establishment in the area is not 

Page 34



 

 

needed; and considers that the proposal potentially conflicts with the desire of the 

Government and local councils to promote healthy eating. 

 

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 

7.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that 

determination must be made in accordance with the Plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise. The key considerations in regard to this 

application are:  

 Matters of principle; 

 Impacts on the character and appearance of the area;  

 Impacts upon neighbours’ amenity; 

 Flood risk; 

 Impacts upon heritage assets; 

 Impacts upon biodiversity; 

 Highway safety; 

 Car and cycle parking provision; 

 Impacts upon the delivery of the Boston distributor road; 

 Issues concerning pollution; and 

 Other issues raised by objectors. 

 

Principle 

 

7.2 As paragraph 4.1 of this report identifies, the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-

2036 shows the application site as being within the Countryside, immediately 

adjacent to the town’s Settlement Boundary. Indeed, the Local Plan shows land to 
the west, north and east as being within the town, with a ‘finger’ of Countryside of 
approximately 150m-width encompassing the application site and land to its 

immediate east. Policy 1 of the Local Plan seeks to concentrate development and 

activity into the area’s existing towns and villages and identifies that, in the 

Countryside, “development will be permitted that is necessary to such a location 

and/or where it can be demonstrated that it meets the sustainable development 

needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits.” The 

Policy’s justification identifies agriculture, forestry, recreation, tourism, plant and 

equipment of public utility providers, flood mitigation infrastructure, and certain 

types of housing as uses that would be appropriate in the countryside. 

 

7.3 The Policy essentially identifies two tests for whether a proposed development is 

appropriate in the countryside. The first test is whether or not the development is 

‘necessary to such a location’. It is considered that a restaurant/drive-thru does not 

need a countryside location – i.e. it is not a use that must be located in the 

countryside (and the application is not supported by any specific information or 

evidence to demonstrate that it must), but could equally well be accommodated 

within an existing town or village. Thus, it is considered that Policy 1’s first test is not 

passed. 

 

7.4 The second test is whether the development ‘meets the sustainable development 
needs of the area in terms of economic, community or environmental benefits’.  It is 

considered that the proposal: 

Page 35



 

 

 Will bring significant economic benefits (in that it will provide full-time or 

part-time employment for more than 65 people); and 

 Will bring significant community benefits, in that it will provide a service 

to its customers. 

It could be argued that these benefits could be equally well realised at a location 

within a Settlement Boundary (rather than in the Countryside) and that the Policy’s 
second test is not therefore passed.  

 

7.5 However, it must be recognised that whilst the site is outside of the settlement 

boundary and is therefore designated as ‘Countryside’, this does not take in to full 
consideration the context of the area around the site. As was found on the recent 

Appeal decision at Cherry Tree Lodge (B/19/0441) - the Inspector identified that 

there has to be an element of planning judgement, and the extent of the settlement 

boundary is not determinative. That is to say, that the designation in the SELLP is the 

starting point, but not the end of the consideration.  In this case, it is considered that 

the particular characteristics of the application site - the fact that it is effectively 

surrounded by the town’s built-up area to three sides, and that the surrounding area 

(if not the application site itself) does not have a rural character; and the fact that the 

application site is close to existing residential neighbourhoods and edge-of-town 

retail units means that the proposed development does not conflict with Policy 1’s 
fundamental aims to ensure that a sustainable pattern of development is created, 

and to protect the countryside’s character.  In these circumstances it is considered 

that, although the proposed development does not strictly speaking accord with 

Policy 1’s provisions, a refusal on this basis would be unlikely to be supported at 

appeal. Furthermore, the proposals would bring employment and a service into an 

area where there is already existing services and economic activity, arguably 

therefore the site is a sustainable one for the proposed use. 

 

7.6 Policy 24 of the Local Plan seeks to focus main town centre uses (such as a ‘food and 
drink outlet’) within town centres and district/local centres, and requires proposals 

for such uses which are to be established outside of a Town Centre Boundary to 

demonstrate their suitability through a sequential test. The Supporting Statement 

which accompanies the application identifies that potential sites within Boston’s 
Town Centre: 

 Are unsuitable to accommodate a drive-thru restaurant, by virtue of their size 

or relative inaccessibility to the road network; and/or 

 Would be unsuitable or unviable as a consequence of their proximity to the 

existing McDonald’s restaurant at Queen Street; and 

 Whilst Policy 7 identifies that Mixed-Use Areas might potentially be suitable 

to accommodate a main town centre use, in practice the only one in Boston is 

The Quadrant, which is not sequentially preferable to the application site. 

 As a consequence, the Supporting Statement concludes that “the proposed site is 
positioned in a good location adjacent to the existing Tesco supermarket and wider 

retail park. The existing retail park lacks a leisure offering for which the proposal will 

provide such a facility, benefiting from a number of joint and linked trips. No 

alternative sites are currently available which are suitable or viable for the intended 

proposal as a whole. … The proposal will … support the function and longevity of the 
adjacent retail park through the provision of wider customer choice.” 

 

Page 36



 

 

7.7 It is considered that the submitted sequential test is robust and that, in this respect, 

the proposal accords with the provisions of Policy 24.  However, the Policy does not 

support the establishment of main town centre uses in a countryside location, i.e. it 

expects them to be provided ‘within a settlement boundary’.  Once again, however, it 

is considered that the fact that the application site is effectively surrounded by the 

town’s built-up area to three sides; and the surrounding area contains two existing 

public houses, a drive-thru coffee shop under construction, and many retail units  

means that, although the proposed development does not strictly speaking accord 

with Policy 24’s provisions, a refusal on this basis would be unlikely to be supported 

at appeal. Furthermore, it is not considered that the introduction of this facility 

would undermine the overall aspiration for the town centre, or prejudice its function. 

 

7.8 In conclusion it is considered that whilst (strictly speaking) the proposal does not 

accord with the provisions of Policies 1 and 24, it nonetheless does not conflict with 

their overarching aims to: create a sustainable pattern of development; protect the 

countryside’s character; and prevent the unnecessary ‘leakage’ of town centre uses 

from Boston’s designated Town Centre.  Whilst the site is technically in ‘Countryside’ 
it is in an area which has an urban character, and which is located alongside 

residential and commercial uses. The proposals would bring an additional service and 

jobs into an area which already exhibits commercial activity. It will bring significant 

employment benefits itself (and may be the first step in the development of further 

neighbouring land with further economic benefits), and is likely to complement the 

existing range of uses in the surrounding area.  It is considered that the proposed use 

and its infrastructure will not appear incongruous or out-of-place in this 

predominantly commercial and strongly ‘roadside’ environment.  As a consequence, 

it is considered that a refusal on the basis that the proposal conflicts with these 

Policies may not be supported at appeal, particularly as the over-riding themes of 

sustainable development as promoted by policies 1 and 24 would not be 

undermined. These factors are further considered within the planning balance. 

 

 Character of the area 

 

7.9 Policy 2 of the Local Plan indicates that developments will be permitted which will 

not have harmful impacts upon the character and appearance of the area. 

 

7.10 As was noted in paragraph 2.1 of this report, the application site is located within a 

part of the town where existing uses are very mixed, but where commercial uses 

predominate  (although there are existing and planned residential elements). These 

include several very large edge-of-town retail premises, two public houses, a farm 

shop, a business selling garden buildings, and land on which planning permission is 

currently being exercised for the construction of a drive-thru coffee shop. It is also 

the case that the area’s visual character is strongly influenced by the presence of two 

large, busy, and well-lit roads (the A52 and Westbridge Road) and their associated 

infrastructure - lighting columns, roundabouts, a bridge, etc.  It is considered that the 

proposed use and its infrastructure will not appear incongruous or out-of-place in 

this predominantly commercial and strongly ‘roadside’ environment.  It is considered 

it would not create noise or disturbance that will unacceptably conflict with the 

area’s existing character and appearance. 

 

Page 37



 

 

7.11 The proposed building is relatively modest in scale, is of a modern and very plain 

design (albeit following the brands typical designs) and is proposed to be built in a 

relatively muted palette of materials. It is proposed to be set back significantly from 

surrounding highways, and it is considered that neither it nor the 

parking/manoeuvring space (largely to the building’s south) will have any significantly 

harmful impacts upon the area’s character or appearance. The proposal also 

includes: 

 A lighting scheme, but it is considered that neither the proposed lighting 

columns nor the level of illumination proposed will be out-of-character 

with the surrounding area, given the nature of nearby land uses and the 

fact that the area is already well-lit after dark; and 

 Associated advertisements, which are dealt with by separate consenting 

processes, and are considered in other reports to this meeting of the 

Planning Committee. 

 

7.12 The application site is in agricultural use and, on its Swineshead Road frontage, has a 

large number of closely-planted young (approximately 4m in height) trees, which 

have the appearance of overgrown hedging plants. Neither the site itself nor the 

trees have any particular amenity value and make no notable contribution to the 

character of the area. The proposals involve the removal of the eastern-most two-

thirds of the existing trees (presumably to facilitate the construction of the Access 

Road) but all others are proposed to be retained, and the proposal includes a 

landscaping scheme comprising: 

 A new mixed species, native hedge just within the northern, western and  

parts of the southern boundaries of the site, behind a 1.2m-high post and 

rail fence; 

 Extensive areas of new grass; 

 Areas of ornamental shrub planting at the site’s north and south-western 

corners; and 

 Six areas of tree-planting. 

It is considered that the proposed landscaping scheme will adequately ‘soften’ the 
appearance of the development and that, taken as a whole, the new planting will 

adequately compensate in visual terms for the trees which are proposed to be felled. 

 

7.13 There is no doubt that the proposal will change the area’s character, but change (of 

itself) is not necessarily harmful.  In all, it is considered that the proposal will not have 

unacceptably harmful impacts upon the character and appearance of the area, and 

that it therefore will meet these requirements of Policy 2.  

  

Neighbours’ amenity 

 

7.14 Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the Local Plan require the amenity of neighbouring land users 

to be protected. Land to the immediate south and east of the application site is in 

agricultural use, and it is considered that the proposal will have no adverse impacts 

upon these neighbouring land users.  However, there are a number of dwellings in 

the vicinity of the application site, and the following paragraphs assess likely impacts 

on residential amenity. 

 

Page 38



 

 

7.15 There are significant numbers of dwellings (existing and under construction) in the 

vicinity of the application site.  However, it is considered that, given the extent to 

which the area’s character is dominated by nearby highways and commercial uses, 
the proposed development is not inherently incompatible with nearby residential 

uses. Looking at specific potential issues in turn: 

 

Light  

 

7.16 The application is accompanied by a Lighting Layout and Specification, and it is 

considered that predicted light levels at the site boundaries will not significantly 

undermine the amenity of nearby residential properties, particularly given how well-

lit the area is at present – a view which is shared by the Borough Council’s 
Environmental Health Department. 

 

Noise  

 

7.17 The application is accompanied by a Noise Assessment, which considers potential 

noise impacts from fixed plant equipment (fans, condensers, etc.), drive-thru activity, 

and car parking activity.  It concludes that, for the latter two categories, the 

restaurant could trade day and night without associated noise giving rise to 

significant adverse effects for nearby residential properties. On the issue of noise 

from fixed plant equipment, it suggests that predicted noise levels should not exceed 

the typical measured background sound levels, and proposes a condition to secure 

this. The Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department agrees with these 
conclusions and, subject to the attachment of the recommended condition, it is 

considered that noise from the proposal will not significantly undermine the amenity 

of nearby residential properties. 

 

Odour 

 

7.18 The application is accompanied by an Odour Control Assessment, which concludes 

that, given the proposed extraction system, no receptors are likely to experience 

nuisance from the air extracted from the kitchen. The Borough Council’s 
Environmental Health Department agrees that no issues with odour are foreseen, 

given that the proposed extraction system is the same as at the Queen Street 

restaurant, where no complaints of odour have been received. 

 

Outlook and Privacy  

 

7.19 The proposal will undoubtedly create a significant change to the outlook from the 

dwellings and domestic gardens to the application site’s north, west and east, and 

could potentially impact upon privacy. However, it is considered that, given the 

distances involved, and the proposed boundary treatments and landscaping scheme, 

any such impacts will not be unacceptably severe. 

 

7.20 Consequently, it is considered that the proposal will not have unacceptable impacts 

upon neighbours’ amenity and that it therefore will meet these requirements of 

Policies 2, 3 and 30.  

 

Page 39



 

 

 Flood risk 

 

7.21 Policy 4 of the Local Plan seeks to ensure that new development is not unnecessarily 

exposed to flood risk, and does not increase flood risk elsewhere.  

 

7.22 Lincolnshire County Council indicates that “The drainage of the site proposes an 

attenuated discharge into an existing watercourse on the west side of the site. This 

watercourse relies upon a culvert that is purported to run northwards, under the 

A52, across third-party land before discharging into the New Hammond Beck.  In the 

interests of avoiding surface water flood risk to the application site and adjacent 

land and property, it is strongly recommended that the Applicant be required to 

demonstrate the existence, viability and suitability of this drainage route before 

commencement of any part of the development.” The applicant has been invited to 

respond but, at the time of writing has provided no comment. It is hoped to report 

verbally on this issue at the meeting. In any event, it is considered that this can be 

dealt with by way of conditions as recommended to require submission of a 

drainage scheme prior to commencement. 

 

7.23 The Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board raises a number of points in its consultation 

response. It is considered that these points can all be adequately dealt with by means 

of an informative attached to the decision notice. 

 

7.24 The application is accompanied by a revised Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) which 

identifies: 

 That site levels range from 1.53m to 1.94m AOD; 

 The proposed use falls within the ‘less vulnerable’ category, as defined in the 
Flood Risk Vulnerability Classification set out in the Planning Practice 

guidance; and 

 Potential sources and likely severity of flooding. 

 

7.25 In particular the FRA identifies that, in the event of a fluvial or tidal breach under 

present day conditions, the site could be inundated to a depth of 1.6m (i.e. to 3.3m 

AOD). The FRA concludes that the finished floor level of the restaurant cannot be 

raised above this level, but that: 

 A formal flood evacuation plan will be agreed with the Local Planning 

Authority; 

 In the event that staff and customers are unable to vacate the premises, 

the roof-level platform (which will accommodate plant) will provide an 

emergency refuge; 

 Flood resilient construction will be used to protect the building from floods 

as high as 3.3m AOD; and 

 A floodable void will be provided beneath the building to mitigate 

increased flood depths to surrounding land. 

 

7.26 It is considered that the above measures are adequate to meet the requirements of 

Policy 4, and the Environment Agency has indicated that the proposed development 

will meet the requirements of the NPPF.  This is provided a condition is attached to 

require the development to be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood 

Risk Assessment (FRA). 

Page 40



 

 

 

Heritage assets – Listed building 

 

7.27 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 confirms the duty of 

the Local Planning Authority to have special regard to the desirability of preserving 

listed buildings, their setting and any features of special architectural or historic 

interest. In the context of Section 66 of the Act, the objective of preservation is to 

cause no harm. The courts have said that this statutory requirement operates as a 

paramount consideration - ‘the first consideration for a decision maker’. Planning 
decisions require balanced judgement, but in that exercise, significant weight must 

be given to the objective of heritage asset conservation. 

 

7.28 This statutory duty sits above the policy objectives identified within the earlier 

section of this report. In this context, the objective of preservation is to cause no 

harm, and is a matter of paramount concern in the planning process. Beyond this, 

where harm would be caused, there is a necessity to establish the extent of that 

harm, and consider this within the policy context. 

 

7.29 In practice, this requires a methodical approach to be followed wherein the relevant 

assets which would be affected need to be identified, along with their significance. 

Consideration can then be given to any effects on this significance resulting from the 

proposals, which may be reduced through mitigation.  If harm is identified, it is then 

required to establish the scale and extent of such harm, before moving on to matters 

such as the planning balance and weighing the public benefits arising against any 

identified harm. 

 

Heritage assets affected  

 

7.30  It is considered that only one heritage asset is potentially affected – a Grade II listed 

milestone beside Wortleys Lane, the list description for which reads “Milestone. Early 

C19. Painted ashlar. Square post with pyramidal top, inscribed "Sleaford 16 miles, 

Boston 2 miles". N.B. The application is not accompanied by a Heritage Statement. 

 

 Impacts of the proposal on the asset  

 

7.31 Most of the milepost’s immediate setting is dominated by modern development of a 
largely suburban character, and its wider setting also contains retail and commercial 

buildings of a similarly unsympathetic character. The application site’s open and 
undeveloped appearance provides the milestone’s only sympathetic local context, 

and the site’s development threatens to further undermine its setting. However, 

given that the proposed restaurant building is of a modest scale, is proposed to be 

built in a reasonably sympathetic palette of materials and is proposed to be located 

more than 40m from the milepost, it is considered that the most crucial issue will be 

the proposed treatment of the boundary and areas of the site nearest to the listed 

structure.  

 

7.32 Heritage Lincolnshire objected to the boundary treatment initially proposed (a 1.2m-

high close-boarded fence) as it was considered that this treatment was 

unsympathetic and would have adversely affected the listed milepost’s setting.  In 

Page 41



 

 

response to this objection, the applicant revised their proposal to replace the close-

boarded fence with a 1.2m-high post and rail fence with a mixed species, native 

hedge at its rear (as requested by Heritage Lincolnshire). It is considered that this 

treatment (together with a proposed area of ornamental shrub planting at the site’s 
north-western corner) will better maintain the application site’s comparatively ‘rural’ 
character and will significantly mitigate the proposal’s impact on the listed milepost’s 
setting.  Nonetheless, it is considered that the proposals will still lead to some harm 

to the listed milepost’s setting – albeit that the impacts will be “less than substantial” 

(in the terminology used by the NPPF).  Indeed, given the factors identified in this and 

the preceding paragraph, it is considered that the net effects of the proposal will be 

towards the lower end of the spectrum of less than substantial harm. 

 

7.33 Nonetheless, in such circumstances, the provisions of the NPPF indicate that “the 
harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal.” The proposals 

will undoubtedly bring economic benefits (in that they will provide significant new 

employment) and will provide a new local service which meet the needs of the 

restaurant’s future customers and, given that the adverse impacts upon the listed 

milepost are assessed as being very minor in nature, it is considered that, within the 

planning balance, the harm would be outweighed by the positive public benefits 

arising from the proposals.    

 

Heritage assets – archaeological remains 

 

7.34 Policy 29 of the Local Plan requires proposals that affect archaeological remains to

 take reasonable steps to protect or enhance their significance. 

 

7.35 Heritage Lincolnshire has identified that, given the extent and type of remains 

previously recorded in the vicinity, the application site potentially contains 

archaeological remains.  Consequently, they ask that a condition should be attached 

to require that, before development commences, a programme of archaeological 

works must be approved by the Local Planning Authority to cover: 

 Evaluation, excavation and recording; 

 Analysis and production of a report; and 

 Dissemination, publication and archiving of findings.  

 

7.36 It is considered that, subject to the above condition, the proposal will meet these 

requirements of Policy 29. 

 

 Biodiversity 

 

7.37 Policy 28 of the Local Plan seeks the protection, enhancement and management of 

natural assets, and requires all development proposals to provide an overall net gain 

in biodiversity. 

 

7.38 The application is accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report which 

identifies that the development of the site would result in general habitat loss and 

more specifically: 

 loss of foraging and commuting habitat for bats; 

 loss of foraging and nesting habitat for birds; and 

Page 42



 

 

 loss of foraging habitat for hedgehogs and hares 

and it identifies the measures required to: mitigate these losses; and ensure 

biodiversity net gains (enhancements). It is considered that, provided the identified 

mitigation and enhancement measures are implemented, the proposals will meet 

these requirements of Policy 28, and that a condition should be attached to require 

their implementation. 

 

7.39 The Preliminary Ecological Report also identifies that the ditch on the application site 

has the potential to be used by water voles, and that the development has the 

potential to kill/injure individuals and destroy their burrows. It therefore 

recommends that at least two water vole surveys are carried out (one between mid-

April and June and the other between July and September) to establish whether the 

animals are present. It is considered that, provided the surveys are carried out as 

recommended, the proposals will meet these requirements of Policy 28, and that a 

condition should be attached to require this. 

 

Highway safety 

 

7.40 Policy 2 of the Local Plan identifies access as a sustainable development 

consideration. Consultees have raised the following specific highway safety concerns: 

 Potential danger to pedestrians and cyclists; 

 Local congestion; 

 The need for the provision of a footpath/cycleway along West End Road; and 

 Potential to create a tailback of queueing vehicles onto the public highway. 

 

Safety of proposed new highway infrastructure   

 

7.41 It is proposed to construct: a new Access Road, which will form a fourth arm to the 

existing A52/Westbridge Road roundabout; and have a Right Turn Lane providing 

access to a new roadway into the restaurant’s curtilage.  There will be footways on 

both sides of the Access Road and a new pedestrian crossing (with a pedestrian 

refuge, dropped kerbs and tactile paving) at the roundabout (linking with the existing 

footways along the southern side of the A52).  It is also proposed to provide tactile 

paving at the existing nearby crossing over the A52 to improve pedestrian links 

towards the stores off Westbridge Road. Separate pedestrian access will be provided 

into the restaurant curtilage, with informal zebra crossing facilities across the car 

park and the drive-thru lane. 

 

7.42 In all, it is considered that the proposal will provide adequately for pedestrian safety, 

and will provide acceptable linkages to the area’s existing pedestrian infrastructure. 

Although the proposals include no specific provisions for cyclists (beyond parking for 

8 bicycles), the local highway network includes no cycle-lanes – the presence of 

which might have suggested a need to make greater provision for the needs of 

cyclists. The Highway Authority indicates that: 

 (Notwithstanding the views expressed by objectors) the proposed 

development would be acceptable in planning terms without the provision 

of a cycleway/footway along West End Road; and 

 Subject to a condition reading “Prior to the commencement of any other 
part of the development hereby permitted, the proposed fourth arm of the 

Page 43



 

 

existing A52/Westbridge Road roundabout shall be completed in 

accordance with the details that shall first be approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority” it is content that the proposed new highway 

infrastructure will not be unsafe. 

 

7.43 However, the Highway Authority have commented in detail on the right turn lane and 

the potential for backing-up. The applicant has responded advising that “the 
proposed Right Turn Lane can accommodate 5 vehicles. Currently all traffic will turn 

right in and left out. The proposed McDonald’s traffic during the peak periods is 113-

117 vehicles inbound so 2 vehicles per minute. It is therefore unlikely that the queue in 

the Right Turn Lane will exceed 2 vehicles even with all traffic turning right into the 

site. If other developments or the Boston Distributor Road come forward then we 

would expect that there would be split turning both left and right into the site, 

therefore although the traffic levels may increase the number of right turn 

movements into the site would decrease so it is still likely that the right turn lane 

would have more than sufficient capacity.” 

 

7.44 Documents submitted with the application identify that, in the longer-term, there are 

ambitions for the new Access Road to serve further development. There is also the 

possibility that the Access Road might, at some point, become part of Phase 3 of the 

Boston Distributor Road (this issue is discussed further below).  However, it is far 

from certain that either of these proposals will materialise, and consequently, this 

application must be determined on its own merits and as it stands. Given that the 

Highway Authority indicates that the highway proposals “will be acceptable to serve 

the proposed development” it is considered that there is no evidence to suggest that 

the proposed right turn lane is inadequate. Indeed, taken as a whole, it is considered 

that there is no evidence to suggest that the proposed new highway infrastructure 

will be unsafe. 

 

 Congestion  

 

7.45 The Transport Assessment (TA) which accompanies the application predicts that the 

proposals will generate 113 vehicle movements at the Friday PM peak and 117 

vehicles at the Saturday lunchtime peak, but that only 43% and 36% respectively of 

these trips will be additional (i.e. the majority of the vehicles that will visit the 

restaurant will be existing on the road network). The TA analyses accident records 

and traffic and queue data and concludes that: there are no highway safety issues on 

the existing network which need to be addressed as part of the planning application; 

the A52 /Westbridge Road roundabout can accommodate the proposed traffic; and 

the proposed development will have no material impact on the operation of the road 

network.  

 

7.46 The Highway Authority does not dispute the TA’s conclusions and thus there is no 

evidence to suggest that (notwithstanding views expressed by objectors) the 

proposals will materially increase congestion locally, nor that mitigation measures 

(such as the construction of a footway/cycleway on West End Road) are required. 

 

 Drive thru lane capacity  

 

Page 44



 

 

7.47 Using data from three similar restaurants, the TA indicates that the average number 

of vehicles waiting in the drive-thru lane at peak times is 6 (maximum 11). The 

proposal’s drive-thru lane has capacity to accommodate 19 vehicles and the TA 

therefore concludes that it is more than adequate to accommodate the anticipated 

level of demand. In contrast, the Highway Authority indicates that “the experience in 

this County, and in particular at Boston's Queen Street outlet, is that … traffic 
frequently queues back onto the adjacent public highway. It is therefore suggested 

that the internal layout of the site be designed so that the entirety of the queue lane, 

from the site entrance to the pay-point, is two vehicles wide.”  

 

7.48 The applicant was invited to consider making such an amendment but indicated that 

there will be “capacity to accommodate up to 19 vehicles within the drive thru lane” 
and “the entrance to the proposed drive thru lane has been located as far from the 
site access as possible so there could be up to 26 vehicles accommodated before the 

circulation of the car park would be affected.” They go on to state: “The Highway 
Authority suggestion for a two lane drive thru approach is a non-standard design for 

McDonald’s restaurants and is not acceptable – it would lead to customers weaving 

between lanes. The Highway Authority also have not considered how a driver in the 

outside lane is supposed to reach across and pay for their meal with another vehicle 

between them and the cash booth.” They go on to indicate that “the Boston Queen 
Street restaurant is overtrading.  The drive thru lane only has capacity for 13 vehicles 

and if there are more than 15 vehicles then the queue blocks the access to the Retail 

Park so the vehicles queueing are then Retail Park customers as well as McDonald’s 
customers. 

 

7.49 The applicant has advised that 40% of the proposed development traffic will be 

transfer trips from the Queen Street restaurant and this will reduce the level of 

activity at Queens Street by 25%.  This would inevitably help improve the existing 

queue situation at Queens Street.  Nevertheless, on the issue of transfer trips, the 

Highway Authority has indicated that it “would not be able to confirm or disprove the 

contention …. that the proposed development would be expected to result in 

transference of custom from the existing outlet in Queen Street, Boston and thereby 

possibly reduce the vehicle queuing at the Queen Street site.”  

 

7.50 The applicant has responded: “transfer trips are a recognised concept by the 

Department of Transport and are regularly assessed as part of foodstore Transport 

Assessments. For example, the application for the Aldi recently approved (September 

2020) at Uffington Road, Stamford (S20/0955) included a Transport Assessment 

which made assessments on the level of transfer trips from the nearby Morrisons to 

the proposed Aldi.  This was seemingly accepted by Lincolnshire Highway Authority 

without comment and we would note that these are different supermarket brands. It 

is therefore concluded that there is no justifiable reason why the Highway Authority 

should not be consistent in their approach and that the same concept should not 

apply to restaurant use, especially given that in this case the transfer of trips is 

between the same operator.” 

 

7.51 Local knowledge of the existing Queen Street McDonald’s restaurant suggests that 

the TA’s estimate of the maximum number of vehicles likely to use the drive thru 

lanes is a significant under-estimate - at peak times, in excess of 35 vehicles have 

Page 45



 

 

been noted (queueing around the entire perimeter of the Queen Street Retail Park’s 
car park). Given that arrangements within the Retail Park’s car park have been in 
place for some months to attempt to separate the traffic generated by McDonald’s 
from that generated by the remaining retail occupiers, it is considered that the 

applicant’s argument that some “vehicles queueing are then Retail Park customers as 

well as McDonald’s customers” cannot be given great weight. However, recent 

queueing at the Queen Street restaurant will have been exacerbated by current 

Covid-19 lockdown arrangements (whereby potential customers do not have the 

option to eat in the restaurant). Furthermore, logic suggests that overall local 

demand for McDonald’s products within the area will not be greatly increased by the 
proposed new restaurant and that (notwithstanding the Highway Authority’s 
equivocal comments), it is likely that the presence of two outlets will ‘spread’ the 
demand (reducing the number of customers using the Queen Street outlet and 

preventing queueing at the proposed new outlet of the scale recently witnessed at 

Queen  Street). Indeed, one could argue that McDonalds would not be looking to 

bring forward an additional offer if the market conditions and need did not support 

it. Officers have reviewed both positions in respect of queueing within and around 

the site, and consider that the applicant’s position is logical, well justified and 
evidenced. In the absence of a clear contrary view from the Highway Authority, it is 

considered that the proposals’ capacity to accommodate vehicles queueing to use 
the drive thru will be adequate. 

 

7.52 In all, it is considered that the proposals will not prejudice highway safety or 

materially increase local congestion, and that they therefore meet these 

requirements of Policy 2.  

  

Parking 

 

7.53 Policy 36 of the Local Plan indicates that all new development should provide vehicle 

and cycle parking in accordance with the minimum parking standards set out in 

Appendix 6.  The Local Plan Appendix indicates that 1 car parking space and 0 cycle 

parking spaces should be provided for each 5m2 of public dining area for a class A3 

restaurant/café.  

 

7.54 The application form identifies this specific proposal to be a sui generis use, however, 

the above standard is still considered to be a reasonable starting point for the 

assessment of the proposal’s parking provisions.  The TA which accompanies the 

application indicates that the dining area will be 137m2 and the Policy/Appendix 

would therefore suggest that 27 vehicle spaces and 0 bicycle stands should be 

provided.  As a point of comparison, the TA suggests that (based upon the average of 

three surveyed restaurants) the maximum demand for parking is anticipated to be for 

26 vehicles.  

 

7.55 The application form and drawings identify that 48 vehicle parking spaces and parking 

for 8 bicycles will be provided. Thus, it appears that the proposed parking provision 

comfortably exceeds the Local Plan’s requirements.  Furthermore, paragraph 105 of 

the NPPF states that “local parking standards … should take into account: the 
accessibility of the development, the type, mix and use of development; the 

availability of and opportunities for public transport.” The site is accessible by bus 

Page 46



 

 

(with stops on Swineshead Road and Westbridge Road within 200m of the application 

site) and some visits are also likely be made on foot or by bicycle (given that there are 

substantial numbers of dwellings within a reasonable walking or cycling distance and 

given the existence of footpaths in both directions along Swineshead Road).  Indeed, 

the Transport Assessment and Travel Plan which accompany the application suggest 

(based upon three surveyed restaurants) that approximately 40 pedestrian visits can 

be expected in a peak hour; and indicate that pedestrian accessibility to the site will 

be improved by: 

 The provision of tactile paving at the drop kerbs on the existing uncontrolled 

crossing over the A52 close to the A52/Westbridge Road roundabout; and 

 The provision of an uncontrolled pedestrian crossing over the new 

‘Development Access Road’. 
 

7.56 The specific design and construction of the new access can be secured by planning 

condition.  In all therefore, it is considered that, because significantly more on-site 

vehicle parking provision is proposed than the Local Plan seeks; and there are clear 

opportunities for travel by means other than the private car, the proposed parking 

provision is adequate - a view shared by the Highway Authority. 

  

Boston Distributor Road 

 

7.57 Policy 33 of the Local Plan indicates that a Safeguarding Corridor is identified within 

which “Phase 3 of the Boston Distributor Road will be delivered (outside this Plan 

period”. The Policy goes on to indicate that “any development that would prejudice 
the design of this infrastructure will not be permitted.” 

 

7.58 Policy 34 of the Local Plan indicates that the Boston Distributor Road (BDR) will be 

delivered in three phases. Phase 3 includes “highway improvement options from 
West End Road which may include new infrastructure to the A52 …”, and the Policy 

indicates that these improvements are not “expected to happen in the Plan period up 

until 2036.” The Reasoned Justification to the Policy indicates that Phase 3 “includes 

the consideration of highway improvements from West End Road which may include 

new highway infrastructure and bridging effectively from the A52 through to the new 

BDR highway provisions at the North Forty Foot. …. It is acknowledged that Phase 3 of 

the BDR will require the examination of options in greater detail. The need for this is 

likely to be part of the preparation of a Local Plan review or as part of a completely 

new Local Plan.” 

 

7.59 Appendix 10 of the Local Plan includes a plan entitled ‘Indicative Layout Boston 

Distributor Road’. This Plan shows a number of potential lines for Phase 3 of the BDR 

(shown as “longer term options requiring further evaluation”) and, whilst it shows 

two options for a link between the northern end of Phase 2 and the A52, neither of 

these options involves the application site. Furthermore, the plan shows the line of a 

‘potential bridging point’ over the South Forty Foot Drain and railway line 

approximately 240m to the west of the application site. 

 

7.60 The application is accompanied by a report by ADL Traffic & Highways Engineering 

Ltd. which (additionally to the above) identifies that: 

Page 47



 

 

 The Boston Distributor Road Strategic Case Summary (2018) shows the 

indicative Phase 3 route significantly to the west of the application site; 

 The Boston Distributor Constraints Study Stage 1 Review (2008) identified 

concerns with the high-pressure gas main located close to the A52 

/Westbridge Road roundabout, and also dismissed the option of taking the 

BDR through the Tesco site due to significant engineering risks associated 

with crossing the drain and railway at this point, as well as potential 

compensation liabilities. The Review therefore stated that the preferred 

route would take the Distributor Road to the west of the retail area to 

connect to the A52 via a new roundabout; 

 Following pre-application discussions with the Highway Authority, the 

Access Road has been designed to adoptable standards and would be 

capable of incorporation into the BDR should the Highway Authority deem 

this necessary; and 

 A conceptual masterplan for the development of the wider site 

(incorporating the remainder of the field to the south and east of the 

application site) includes: 

 A 10m-wide Access Road, with 3m-wide right-turn lane facilities into the 

application site and other potential  development plots; and 

 Buildings set back significantly from the Access Road and the A52 to allow 

for future widening if required; and 

 The drive-thru coffee shop permitted (B/19/0519) 155m to the site’s east 
(and also within the Safeguarding Corridor) was permitted.  

 

7.61 The Report by ADL Traffic & Highways Engineering Ltd therefore concludes that: 

 The potential for the application site to form part of the BDR has been 

considered and rejected by the Local Plan, the Boston Distributor Road 

Strategic Case Summary (2018) and the Boston Distributor Constraints Study 

Stage 1 Review (2008); and 

 It is unlikely that the application site would form a suitable point of 

connection for the BDR onto the A52; but that the internal layout design 

does not prevent this. 

 

7.62 The applicant has further indicated that: 

 If the Access Road were adopted, it is expected that the S38 Agreement 

could include land which the Highway Authority may deem necessary for 

future highway improvement. In this way the land would be secured. The 

extent of this would need to be agreed with the Developer and the Highway 

Authority; and 

 Based on pre-application discussions with the Highway Authority, the 10.0m 

wide Access Road (with right-turn lanes) was advised to be sufficient for the 

Boston Distributor Road highway, but the proposed layout also affords some 

scope for modification if required.  For example the Highway Authority may 

decide that that the BDR should also include a cycle route then the footway 

could be widened to 3.0m on the eastern side of the Access Road to 

accommodate this. The proposed restaurant has been set back from the A52 

and the Access Road so that the Access Road approach to the Tesco 

Roundabout could, in theory, be widened to two lanes in the future – even 

though a dual carriageway (with higher traffic speeds) would not be 

Page 48



 

 

desirable in this location, and the existing A52/Westbridge Road roundabout 

could not accommodate a link to a dual-carriageway road without significant 

modification. 

 

7.63 The Highway Authority has been provided with a copy of the Report by ADL Traffic & 

Highways Engineering Ltd and invited to address the report's arguments that: the 

expected alignment of Phase 3 of the BDR is unlikely to use the application site; and 

the site layout and the Access Road are designed to enable incorporation into the 

BDR, if required.  However, the Highway Authority has simply indicated that “prior to 

the determination of this application, the highway authority advises that the 

necessary assessment work is undertaken to satisfy the determining authority that 

the development proposed in this planning application will not restrict the future 

delivery of the BDR”. The Highway Authority does not dispute that the Access Road is 

of an adoptable standard but indicates that it would not wish to adopt the proposed 

Access Road because: 

 Initially “the road, would serve nothing more that the proposed McDonalds 

restaurant”; and 

 “Until such time as the road is further extended, the proposal to manage the 

surface water run-off for this initial part of the road involve taking that water 

through the restaurant site via an underground attenuation and storage 

device that relies on the vigilance and maintenance of the restaurant staff” 

 

7.64 Taking account of the above it is clear that, if it can be demonstrated that the 

proposal will prejudice the delivery of Phase 3 of the Boston Distributor Road (BDR), 

it will potentially be appropriate for planning permission to be refused on that basis. 

However, it is considered that the various relevant provisions of the Local Plan (set 

out in the preceding paragraphs) and the Highway Authority’s far-from-definitive 

advice do not provide strong evidence upon which to base a possible refusal. In 

particular: 

 Phase 3 of the BDR is not expected to be delivered until after 2036 (i.e. at 

least 15 years hence); 

 Phase 3 works in this part of the route may involve: 

 ‘new infrastructure to the A52’ (which might in theory affect the 

application site) but, although the ‘Indicative Layout Boston Distributor 
Road’ shows an option of this sort, it passes substantially to the south 
and west of the application site; or 

 ‘highway improvement options’, i.e. up-grades to existing roads, rather 

than new roads (which would not therefore affect the application site at 

all); and 

 Phase 3 works in this part of the route may involve bridging from the A52 

northwards but, although the ‘Indicative Layout Boston Distributor Road’ 
shows an option of this sort, it passes substantially to the west of the 

application site. 

 There is no clear reason that the proposed new route to serve the restaurant 

could not be amended or adapted to form part of the BDR route if 

necessary. 

 

7.65 Whilst it may be the case that the development of the application site will curtail the 

range of options that can potentially be taken forward for Phase 3 of the BDR, even 

Page 49



 

 

this point is not clearly established. However, the Local Plan’s provisions, taken 
together with a lack of clear information or evidence from the Highway Authority, do 

not provide a credible indication that: the successful implementation of the BDR 

requires the application site to remain undeveloped; Phase 3 of the road will be 

implemented in the foreseeable future; or that the proposed Access Road could not 

become a part of the BDR. In these circumstances, it is considered that a refusal on 

the basis that the proposed restaurant/drive-thru would conflict with the provisions 

of Policy 33 of the Local Plan is unlikely to be sustainable at appeal. 

 

 Pollution 

 

Air quality  

 

7.66 Policy 30 of the Local Plan requires: this planning application to be accompanied by 

an assessment of the proposal’s air quality impacts; suitable mitigation measures to 

be provided if required; and proposals to be refused if impacts cannot be suitably 

mitigated or avoided. 

 

7.67 The application is accompanied by an Air Quality Screening Assessment which 

examines existing air quality issues in the town, and concludes that: 

 Users of the restaurant will not be exposed to unacceptable levels of 

pollutants; 

 Increased traffic flows on the A52 as a consequence of the restaurant would 

be insufficient to create poor air quality; 

 The proposal will not increase traffic through the town’s Air Quality 
Management Areas; and 

 A more detailed air quality assessment is therefore not required. 

 

7.68 The Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department agrees with the above 
conclusions and thus it is considered that the proposals meet these requirements of 

Policy 30 of the Local Plan  

 

 Ground contamination  

 

7.69 Policy 30 of the Local Plan indicates that, where there is reason to suspect ground 

contamination, proposals must include an assessment of the extent of contamination 

and any possible risks.  

 

7.70 The site is currently in agricultural use and is not known to have been put to any 

other use and risks from ground contamination to public health are therefore very 

low.  The Borough Council’s Environmental Health Department asks for a condition to 
be attached to deal with any ‘unforeseen’ contamination that may be detected 
during development.  The inclusion of such a condition is considered to be 

reasonable. 

 

 Other issues raised by objectors 

 

7.71 Representations to the proposal have been made on the basis of issues not covered 

by the preceding paragraphs. These issues are that the proposal: 

Page 50



 

 

 will lead to increased anti-social behaviour locally; 

 would be more appropriate on the Quadrant development; 

 will lead to increased littering of takeaway packaging; 

 is not needed; and 

 will not encourage healthy eating. 

 

 Anti-social behaviour  

 

7.72 Policy 32 indicates that development will not be permitted unless it creates an 

environment which discourages crime and disorder and does not create the fear of 

crime. However, no evidence has been put forward to indicate that the proposal will 

create anti-social behaviour and the Supporting Statement which accompanies the 

application indicates that: the car park will be monitored and customers who cause 

disruption or noise will be asked to leave the premises; and CCTV will be used to 

deter anti-social behaviour. 

 

 More appropriate at The Quadrant  

 

7.73 The Quadrant is already home to uses of a similar nature. However, in planning 

terms, The Quadrant is not a preferable location to the application site – neither is 

within Boston’s Town Centre nor a designated District or Local Centre.  

 

 Littering  

 

7.74 Objectors have suggested that this issue could be tackled by: 

 The provision of an area for  “vehicles to park up with the takeaway and 
plenty of bins to help minimise litter in the area including the wooded 

areas”; 

 The applicant should: work with local litter-picking groups; employ a litter 

patrol; and support the Boston Woods Trust’s (BWT) waste disposal 

activities financially and/or with staff volunteers; 

 Takeaway containers being made in biodegradable materials; and 

 Takeaway containers being stamped with car registration numbers to 

enable those responsible for littering to be traced. 

 

7.75 Although the Local Plan contains Policies which are concerned with developments’ 
potential impacts on their surroundings (Policies 2 and 30 are of the greatest 

relevance here), none specifically refers to litter. Paragraph 183 of the NPPF indicates 

that “the focus of planning … decisions should be on whether the proposed 
development is an acceptable use of land, rather than the control of … emissions 
(where these are subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions 

should assume that these regimes will operate effectively.”  Given the above advice 

and the fact that littering is an offence under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, 

it is considered that there are appropriate bodies outside of the planning system 

which considers and addresses the source of littering. 

 

7.76 Nonetheless, looking briefly at the detailed issues raised: 

 The restaurant includes a car park (with litter bins (which are considered to 

be adequate in number to serve the proposal) and signs encouraging the 

Page 51



 

 

appropriate disposal of waste (see application B/20/0429)) in which 

customers can park and eat their takeaway food; 

 The Supporting Statement which accompanies the application indicates 

that at least three daily litter patrols will be conducted within 150m of the 

restaurant. The applicant was invited to consider the extension of this 

scheme to include the BWT’s car parks, but they 

 Noted that the BWT car parks are either closer or equidistant to both 

the drive-thru coffee shop approved under B/19/0519 and Quadrant 

development (where a number of similar operators are located) but  

that such issues had not featured in the consideration of these 

developments; 

 Noted that the closest BWT car park at Westgate Wood is 

approximately a 1.5km walk along Old Hammond Beck Bank Road 

(without lighting or a suitable pavement), and it would therefore be 

unpractical and unsafe to be included within litter patrols; and 

 Indicated that, once the restaurant is open, the BWT would be able to 

liaise directly with the franchisee to review local initiatives. However, 

they consider that this is not something for discussion through the 

planning process.  

 The nature of packaging materials is not a material planning consideration; 

and 

 Using ANPR technology to stamp containers with car registration numbers 

would potentially conflict with data-protection regulations, and would not 

provide an evidential link between the litterer and the owner of the 

vehicle (e.g. litter could have been discarded by a passenger, or could have 

blown out of a bin). 

 

Will not encourage healthy eating  

 

7.77 Policy 32 of the Local Plan indicates that “development will not be permitted unless it 

(where possible and appropriate) …creates environments which … encourage healthy 
eating …”. Paragraph 91 of the NPPF indicates that “planning … decisions should aim 

to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which … enable and support healthy 
lifestyles … for example through … access to healthier food”. 

 

7.78 It is considered that there is no evidence to demonstrate that the proposed 

restaurant would conflict with the above advice and Policy provisions. Equally the 

proposal is not located in an area where there is a proliferation of such uses, or 

indeed where such uses may be perceived to be in conflict with other land-uses (eg 

near schools), and to that end, it is considered that a refusal on these grounds would 

be unlikely to be sustainable. 

 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 

 

8.1 Section 38(6) of the Act requires that proposals are determined in accordance with 

the development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. It is well-

defined in case law that the Development Plan (in this case the South East 

Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036) should be taken as a whole.  It is for the decision-

maker to weigh up the extent to which proposals are in accordance with or may 

Page 52



 

 

conflict with policies of the development plan and their objectives, along with all 

relevant materials considerations. The weight attributed to each of these factors 

within the exercise is known as the ‘planning balance’. 
 

8.2 It is considered that the following factors weigh in favour of the proposal: 

 The proposals will not have unacceptably harmful impacts upon the 

character and appearance of the area; 

 The proposals will not have unacceptable impacts upon neighbours’ 
amenities (subject to a condition); 

 The proposals will be acceptable in flood risk terms (subject to a condition); 

 Any minor harm caused to the setting of the nearby listed milestone will be 

outweighed by the positive public benefits arising from the proposals; 

 Subject to a condition, the proposals will include reasonable measures to 

protect archaeological remains; 

 Subject to conditions, the proposals will protect and enhance natural 

assets; 

 The proposals include adequate vehicle and cycle parking; and 

 Subject to condition, the proposals will not have unacceptable adverse 

impacts in terms of pollution. 

 

8.3 Conflicting views are presented by the applicant and the Highway Authority 

concerning the adequacy of the capacity of the proposed drive thru lane.  Although 

the Highway Authority’s view undoubtedly weighs against the proposals, it is 
considered that this view is expressed in equivocal terms and that the site’s ability to 
accommodate 26 queueing vehicles is likely to be adequate to meet demand under 

normal trading conditions. The applicant’s position is well evidenced and informed on 
this matter. Therefore there can be no certainty that any harm would be able to be 

evidenced if the proposals were refused on this basis. 

 

8.4 With regard to the impact on the Boston Distributor Road, there is no credible 

evidence that the proposals will prejudice the delivery of Phase 3 of the route, and as 

such it is considered that an objection to the scheme on the basis of policy 33 is 

unlikely to be sustainable.  

 

8.5 Finally, with respect to policies 1 and 24, the site is located outside of the limits of the 

settlement boundary, and therefore technically within Countryside wherein the need 

for the development has not been fully demonstrated. However, the actual context 

of the area is more urban in nature, and includes a number of other commercial and 

residential uses, as such it is not considered that the proposals would undermine the 

general thrust of the objectives of these policies. Additionally the proposals would 

not undermine the ability of the town centre to function, and would have a negligible 

impact upon it. On balance therefore it is considered that the proposals would be 

acceptable. 

 

8.6 There are therefore certain aspects of the proposal which conflict with policy, or 

criteria within policy. However, the proposal would also result in the provision of a 

new service to meet the needs of the community and would provide a significant 

number of jobs within an area which is subject to other forms of commercial 

development. These are significant positives which weigh in favour of the proposals. 

Page 53



 

 

In overall terms the proposals are considered to result in a sustainable form of 

development. 

 

8.7 On balance, therefore, it is considered that the proposal is in accordance with the 

policies of the development plan when taken as a whole. Where any minor conflicts 

with the plan or minor material harm would occur these negatives would be 

outweighed by other material planning considerations, including the considerable 

economic benefits that are likely to arise from the development. The proposals are 

considered to be representative of sustainable development. It is therefore 

recommended planning permission is granted subject to the conditions as set out in 

the report and set out below. 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

 

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee GRANTS Planning Permission, subject to the 

following conditions and reasons:- 

 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of four 

years from the date of this permission. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and 

Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with the 

application received 03-Nov-2020 and in accordance with the associated plans 

referenced:  

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL01 B: Site Location Plan; 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P102 D: Block Plan; 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P104 F: Site Layout Plan As Proposed; 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P105 B: Proposed Elevations and Section; 

 Drawing Number 17019-VL-McD_L01 Rev B: Landscape Plan; 

 Un-numbered Drawings: Goal Post Height Restrictor and COD/Canopy 

Digital Drive Thru Lane; 

 Un-numbered Drawings: Outdoor Climb 2017 Revision; 

 Un-numbered Drawings: Standard Patio Area Supporting Specifications; 

and 

 Drawing Number D-375612: Proposed Lighting Layout. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development is undertaken in accordance with the 

approved details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3, 4, 28, 29 and 36 of the South East 

Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

3. No development and/or clearance of the site shall take place until two further 

surveys have been undertaken to establish whether the site and the ditch to the 

north of the site are utilised by water voles and the results submitted to and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The surveys shall take place 

during the optimum period for water voles activity (one between mid-April and June 

and the other between July and September, following water vole survey guidance).  

 

Page 54



 

 

If such a use is established, then no development shall take place until a 

comprehensive method statement indicating how water voles are to be safeguarded 

with appropriate mitigation measures have been submitted to and approved in 

writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 

The duly approved method statement shall be implemented in full accordance with 

the details, recommendations and timescales contained therein.  Any mitigation 

measures shall be fully implemented before clearance of any vegetation and 

subsequent development of the site and retained as such thereafter. 

 

Reason: In the interests of protected species, and to accord with Policy 28 of the 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

4. No fixed plant and/or machinery shall come into operation until details of the fixed 

plant and machinery serving the development hereby permitted, and any mitigation 

measures to achieve this condition, are submitted to and approved in writing by the 

local planning authority. The rating level of the sound emitted from the site shall not 

exceed 45 dBA between 0700 and 2300 hours and 34 dBA at all other times. The 

sound levels shall be determined by measurement or calculation at the nearest 

residential premises. The measurements and assessment shall be made according to 

BS 4142:2014. 

 

Reason: To ensure that noise levels from fixed plant and machinery do not exceed 

the existing background noise climate, in the interest of residential amenities, and to 

comply with Policies 2, 3 and 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

5. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the Flood 

Risk Assessment dated 15 December 2020 (ref: MD4190159/KLJ/004) and the 

following mitigation measures detailed within it:  

 Finished floor levels to be set no lower than 2.75m AOD; 

 The availability of the upper level plant room platform to act as an emergency 

refuge; and 

 Flood resilience and resistance measures to be incorporated into the 

proposed development as stated. 

 

The mitigation measures shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and 

subsequently remain in place.  

 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding to the proposed development and future 

occupants, and to comply with Policy 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

2011-2036. 

 

6. No development shall take place until the implementation of a programme of 

archaeological works in accordance with a Written Scheme of Investigation (WSI) 

which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 

The WSI shall cover the following:  

1.  A phased programme and methodology of site investigation and recording 

to include:  

 an archaeological evaluation; and 

Page 55



 

 

 (where merited by the evaluation results) targeted area excavation 

and monitoring and recording;  

2. A programme for post investigation assessment to include:  

 analysis of the site investigation records and finds; and 

 production of a final report on the significance of the archaeological 

and historical interest represented; 

3. Provision for publication and dissemination of the analysis and report on the 

site investigation; 

4. Provision for archive deposition of the report, finds and records of the site 

investigation; and 

5. Nomination of a competent person or persons/organisation to undertake the 

works set out within the approved WSI.  

 

Works shall then only be undertaken in accordance with the WSI and any associated 

recommendations therein.  

 

Reason: To record and advance understanding of heritage assets to be lost and to 

make information about the archaeological heritage interest publicly accessible, in 

accordance with Policy 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

7. Prior to the commencement of any other part of the development hereby permitted, 

full details of the proposed fourth arm of the existing A52/Westbridge Road 

roundabout and the associated access road to service the development shall be 

submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The fourth arm of 

the roundabout and the access road shall then be completed in accordance with the 

agreed details prior to the first use of the development.  

 

Reason: In the interests of the safety and free passage of those using the adjacent 

public highway and of providing safe and suitable access to the permitted 

development, and to comply with Policy 2 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 

8. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Requirements and Enhancements identified in the Ecological Risk Assessment table 

on pages 4-6 of the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report (Version 2/September 

2020) with all measures implemented prior to first use of the development. 

 

Reason: To ensure the development provides an overall net gain in biodiversity, in 

accordance with Policy 28 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan. 

 

9. If, during development, contamination not previously considered is identified, the 

local planning authority shall be notified immediately and no further work shall be 

carried out until a method statement detailing a scheme for dealing with the suspect 

contamination has been submitted to and agreed in writing with the local planning 

authority. 

 

Reason: To ensure that all contamination within the site is dealt with, and to accord 

with Policy 30 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036. 

 

Page 56



 

 

10. No above ground works shall take place until a scheme for the disposal of foul and 

surface water from the site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. Unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning 

Authority, the scheme shall include:  

(i) Separate systems for the disposal of foul and surface water; 

(ii) Details of the rate of surface water discharge from the site to any soakaway, 

watercourse or sewer, including provisions to ensure that the post-development 

discharge rate does not exceed the pre-development rate (incorporating an 

appropriate allowance for climate change); 

(iii) Details of any necessary flow attenuation measures, including the use of 

SUDS where appropriate; and 

(iv) Details of how the scheme will be maintained and managed after completion.  

 

The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the duly approved details 

before the dwelling is first occupied, and shall be maintained and managed as such 

thereafter. 

 

Reason: To ensure that the development is not at risk of flooding and does not 

increase flood risk elsewhere, and that adequate measures are put in place for the 

disposal of foul and surface water in accordance with the requirements of Policy 2 

and 4 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (2011- 2036). 

 

 

INFORMATIVES 

 

 Cadent has a 273mm High Pressure gas pipeline close to the edge of the development 

application. It holds a deed of grant for a legal easement on this High Pressure gas 

pipeline and no development is permitted inside the easement without Cadent’s written 
permission. Cadent will need to be approached and liaised with before work commences 

as it may have pipeline protection measures that need to be adhered to. 

 The Environment Agency advises that a Flood Warning and Evacuation Plan is produced 

for the development in order to address the residual risks of flooding at the site and to 

confirm the approach that will be taken for safe evacuation of the area.  

 The Environment Agency supports the suggestion in the FRA that future occupants sign 

up to Floodline Warnings Direct to receive advance warning of flooding. This can be done 

online at https://www.gov.uk/sign-up-for-flood-warnings or by phoning Floodline 

Warnings Direct on 0345 988 1188. 

 The Black Sluice Internal Drainage Board indicates that: 

Rainfall runoff: 

 The prior written consent of the Board will be required for the proposed 

discharge of surface water from the development into an adjacent watercourse 

(and, where possible, discharges should be limited to 1.4ltrs/sec/Ha.); 

 It is understood that the development’s proposed drainage system will also 
receive surface water from the adjacent link road, albeit on a temporary basis. If 

this is the case, the applicant must declare the additional impermeable area to 

be drained within any application to the Board; 

 All drainage routes through the site should be maintained both during the works 

and after completion of the works. Provisions should be made to ensure that 

upstream and downstream riparian owners and those areas that ae presently 

Page 57



 

 

served by any drainage routes passing through or adjacent to the site are not 

adversely affected by the development; 

 Consideration must be given to the route downstream of the site from the 

discharge point to an appropriately maintained watercourse. The applicant will 

be expected to carry out off-site works or increased maintenance  required to 

safeguard the site discharge for the life of the development, including any 

necessary maintenance to any adjacent piped culverts along the route of flow; 

 A permanent undeveloped strip (of sufficient width to allow future maintenance 

work) must be created adjacent to the top of the bank of all watercourses 

bounding the development; 

 

Discharge Outfalls 

 If the proposed surface water discharge outfall is into an adjacent watercourse, 

prior written consent will be required from the Board for any structures placed in 

the bank as per Section 23 of the Land Drainage Act 1991; 

 

Filling in or Culverting Watercourses 

 The ownership and maintenance of watercourses within the applicant’s land 
registry boundaries  (including any existing piped culverts or other structures 

within the confines of the watercourses) lies with the applicant and their 

successors; 

 If the applicant intends to install new piped structures within watercourses, the 

prior written consent of the Board is required under Section 23 of the Land 

Drainage Act 1991. 

 

Page 58



  
 

 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0427 

 

Planning Application: 

Advertisement Consent for the installation of          

1no. Internally illuminated Freestanding Totem Sign 

Location: 

Land between Swineshead Road and                                  

Wortley's Lane, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7JF 

 

Applicant: 

McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Page 59

Agenda Item 3



L ocation Plan for indicative purposes only © Crown copyright. All rights reserved 100024661 2021 

SITE 

TESCO 

 

P
age 60



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Planning Committee – 9th March 2021 

 

 

Reference No: B/20/0427 

  

Expiry Date: 28-Dec-2020 

Extension of Time: 05-Feb-2021 

  

Application Type: Advertisement Consent 

Proposal: Advertisement consent for the installation of 1no. Internally 

illuminated Freestanding Totem Sign 

  

Site:  Land between Swineshead Road and Wortley's Lane, Boston, PE21 7JF 

  

Applicant: McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Agent:  Mr Ben Fox, Planware Ltd 

  

 

Ward:  Wyberton   Parish: Wyberton Parish Council 

 

Case Officer: Simon Eldred Third Party Reps: None received 

 

  Recommendation:  GRANT Advertisement Consent 

Page 61



 

 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 

 

1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by Councillor 

Richard Austin, who states that the reasons for the call-in are “safeguarding of route 
for distributor road, tail backs onto public road, lack of footpath on West End Road and 

litter issues.” 

 

1.2 As this application is directly linked to B/20/0432 which is for the main restaurant 

development, it is considered that this advertisement application (along with others of 

a similar nature which have been submitted concurrently) should be reported to the 

Committee to allow the proposals to be considered comprehensively. 

 

2.0 Application Site and Proposal 

 

2.1 The application site is located to the south of Swineshead Road and east of Wortleys 

Lane, Boston.  It consists of part of a larger agricultural field (uncultivated at the time 

of the site visit).  It is located in a part of the Borough where uses are very mixed, with: 

 To its west, dwellings (off both Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road), and 

industrial premises (which are allocated in the Local Plan for residential 

redevelopment); 

 To its north, dwellings  under construction on the northern side of 

Swineshead Road and (beyond the New Hammond Beck Drain) edge-of-

town retail premises; 

 To its east, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, a 

farm shop, a business selling garden buildings, two public houses, and land 

on which planning permission is currently being exercised for the 

construction of a drive-thru coffee shop; and 

 To its south, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, and 

land on which planning permission is outstanding for the construction of 

further dwellings. 

 

2.2 The application seeks advertisement consent for the erection of a freestanding totem 

sign in a location approximately 11m from the edge of Swineshead Road’s carriageway, 
and approximately 28m from the edge of Wortleys Lane’s carriageway. The sign will 
consist of an aluminium post (12m in height), in a timber-effect colour, with vertical 

lines of a dark-olive colour, which will carry: 

 At approximately 7.4m above ground-level, a sign to both sides (0.87m x 

1.92m) with a dark-olive coloured background and an internally-illuminated 

‘drive-thru’ logo and text in white and yellow; 
 At approximately 8.5m above ground-level, an unilluminated sign to both 

sides (1.28m x 1.92m) in a timber-effect colour; and 

 At approximately 9.9m above ground-level, a sign to both sides (1.667m x 

1.92m) with a dark-olive coloured background and an internally-illuminated 

‘golden arches’ logo in yellow. 
 

 

 

 

Page 62



 

 

3.0 Relevant History 

 

3.1 The site has no relevant planning history, but is affected by three further applications 

which are the subjects of reports to this meeting of the Planning Committee, namely: 

 B/20/0428 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 10 

internally illuminated signs; 

 B/20/0429 – Application for Advertisement Consent for various site signage; 

and 

 B/20/0432 – application for full Planning Permission for the erection of a 

freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car parking, landscaping and 

associated works. 

 

4.0 Relevant Policy 

 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

 

4.1 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 shows the application site as being 

within the Countryside, immediately adjacent to Boston’s Settlement Boundary and 
within the Safeguarding Corridor.  Land to the west of the application site (on the 

opposite side of Wortleys Lane) is identified as Housing Allocation Wyb013 where 85 

dwellings are expected to be built. The relevant Policies are:  

 Policy 2: Development Management; 

 Policy 3: Design of New Development; and 

 Policy 29: The Historic Environment. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

4.2 At the heart of the 2019 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:  

 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places; and 

 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 

 

Planning Practice Guidance 

 

4.3 The provisions of the Planning Practice Guidance category entitled ‘Advertisements’ 
are relevant, especially paragraphs 067 to 079. 

 

5.0 Representations 

 

5.1 No representations have been received as a result of publicity. 

 

6.0 Consultations 

 

6.1 Cadent Gas identifies that there are high or intermediate pressure gas pipelines and 

associated equipment in the vicinity of the application site, but does not object as the 

proposal will not affect these pipelines. 

 

6.2 The Health and Safety Executive indicates that it does not advise against the granting 

of consent. 

Page 63



 

 

 

6.3 Lincolnshire County Council identifies that the application site is located within the 

safeguarding corridor of the Boston Distributor Road, but concludes that the proposal 

is acceptable, and that it therefore does not wish to object to this application. 

 

6.4 Wyberton Parish Council indicates that, whilst the restaurant may create employment 

and may help to reduce traffic congestion in the town centre, it may also lead to extra 

litter locally, increase traffic numbers locally – potentially creating traffic congestion 

and posing a risk to pedestrians and cyclists. Consequently , the Parish Council asks 

that: 

 The applicant should make a contribution towards the construction of a 

path/cycleway on West End Road; 

 The potential for congestion in the area should be taken into consideration; 

 An area should be provided for “vehicles to park up with the takeaway and 
plenty of bins to help minimise litter in the area including the wooded areas”; 

 The applicant should work with local groups for litter picking; 

 Takeaway containers should be in bio-degradeable materials; and 

 Takeaway containers should be stamped with car registration numbers to 

enable those responsible for littering to be traced. 

 

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 

7.1 Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 

Regulations 2007 (as amended) indicates that “a local planning authority shall exercise 
its powers under these Regulations in the interests of amenity and public safety …” I.e. 

advertisements should be subject to control only in the interests of amenity and public 

safety. Given that: 

 the issues raised by the Parish Council; and 

 issues concerning the Safeguarding Corridor identified in the Local Plan 

do not relate directly to potential amenity or public safety impacts of the proposed 

totem sign, it is considered that they can be given no weight in the determination of 

this application. 

 

7.2 Therefore, the key considerations in regard to this application are: effects on public 

safety; and effects upon amenity. 

 

Amenity 

 

7.3 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the 

locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or 

similar interest. 

 

7.4 Despite the fact that the application site is currently undeveloped and the Local Plan 

shows it as being in the Countryside, the character of the locality is very mixed and, 

although there are significant numbers of residential properties nearby, uses of a 

commercial character predominate. The surrounding area contains a large number of 

existing advertisements of various types and sizes, including: 

Page 64



 

 

 At approximately 200m distance: board adverts on the frontage of 

Swineshead Road for Mastenbroek and Cola Training Services; and adverts 

on the elevations and within the curtilages of various commercial buildings 

(Lidl, Oldrids Downtown, Tesco, Hammer and Pincers PH, Chain Bridge PH, 

Mastenbroek, and B&Q); 

 At approximately 100m-150m distance: adverts on buildings and at the 

boundaries of commercial premises (Old MacDonald’s Farm Shop, B&Q, 
Tesco); and a board advert on the roundabout at the junction of New 

Hammond Beck Road with Westbridge Road; and 

 At less than 100m distance, board advertisements for Old Macdonalds Farm 

Shop and Adventures in Wood, banner advertisements fixed to the railings 

of the bridge over the New Hammond Beck, an illuminated totem sign 

advertising the Tesco store, and boards on the frontage of Swineshead Road 

advertising a fireworks retailer and an installer of TV aerials. 

 

7.5 The proposed totem sign: will be prominently located; its post will be significant in 

height (12m); and the signs that it will carry will themselves be displayed at 

considerable heights above ground-level (between 7.4m and 9.9m at their bases). As 

a consequence, it is considered that the proposed sign will be a very prominent feature 

in the street-scene, even bearing in mind that: 

 its signs are not particularly large in size (ranging from 0.87m x 1.92m to 

1.667m x 1.92m); 

 the signs’ colour-schemes are not garish; and 

 the degree of illumination proposed is relatively modest, and the wider area 

is well illuminated at night. 

Nonetheless it is considered that, given the large number of advertisements displayed 

in the wider area, the proposed totem sign will not appear out-of-character. 

Furthermore, given that it will be located more than 25m from the nearest dwelling, it 

is considered that it will not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenities of 

residential neighbours.   

 

7.6 The application site is not within a conservation area and contains no listed buildings, 

but it does form part of the setting of a listed building (a Grade II milestone located on 

the opposite corner of Swineshead Road and Wortleys Lane). Given that: 

 the totem sign is proposed to be located approximately 40m from the 

milepost; 

 the proposed signs are relatively small in size, are not in garish colours or 

strongly illuminated; 

 the milepost’s immediate setting is already dominated by modern 

development of a largely suburban character; and 

 the milepost’s wider setting already contains large numbers of 

advertisements, 

it is considered that the proposal will not have any significant adverse impact upon the 

milepost’s setting. 
 

7.7 It is considered the proposed totem sign would not harm the amenity of the area and 

as such is acceptable in this respect. 

 

 

Page 65



 

 

Public safety 

 

7.8 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to public safety include the safety of people using 

the highway and whether the display of the advertisement is likely to: obscure or 

hinder the ready interpretation of any traffic sign; or hinder the operation of any 

security or surveillance device, or device for measuring the speed of vehicles. 

 

7.9 As was identified in paragraph 7.5 of this report, the proposed totem sign will be highly 

visible to users of nearby highways, and it is noted that it is proposed to be located 

within approximately 50m of the busy roundabout at the junction of Swineshead Road 

with Westbridge Road. Nonetheless, it is considered that, because: 

 Its signs are not particularly large in size (ranging from 0.87m x 1.92m to 

1.667m x 1.92m); 

 the signs’ colour-schemes are not garish; 

 the degree of illumination proposed is relatively modest and the wider area 

is well illuminated at night; and 

 the area already contains large numbers of advertisements, 

the proposed totem sign will not impact upon the safety of highway users – a view 

shared by the Highway Authority.  Equally, it is considered that the sign will not impact 

upon the operation of the town’s CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

  

7.10 It is considered the proposed totem sign would not harm public safety and as such is 

acceptable in this respect. 

 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 

 

8.1 The application site is located in a part of the town where commercial uses are 

concentrated, and where advertisements are common. It is considered that the 

proposal: 

 is in keeping with the general characteristics of the locality, and will not have 

any significant adverse impact upon the setting of the nearby listed 

milepost; and 

 will not impact upon the safety of highway users or the operation of the 

town’s CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

 

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee GRANTS Advertisement Consent, subject to 

the following conditions and reasons:- 

 

1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 

2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict accordance 

with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details shown on drawings: 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL02 A (Nov 2020): Site Location Plan Adverts; 

Page 66



 

 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P122 D (Feb 2019): Site Layout Plan Drive 

Totem; and 

 Job Number 98748A (27/08/2019): Sign 1 – DT2 12m totem. 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved 

details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 

Plan 2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(February 2019). 

 

3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site 

or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 

(ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military); 

(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal 

or aid to navigation by water or air; or 

(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 

surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

(iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 

shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site. 

(iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 

advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the 

public. 

(v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the site 

shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity. 

 

Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control of 

Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 

Page 67



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 68



  
 

 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0428 

 

Planning Application: 

Advertisement Consent for the installation of: 

6no. Internally Illuminated Fascia Signs 

3no. Internally Illuminated Booth Lettering Signs 

1no. Internally Illuminated Digital Both Screen 

Location: 

Land between Swineshead Road and  

Wortley's Lane, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7JF 

Applicant: 

McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Page 69

Agenda Item 4



L ocation Plan for indicative purposes only © Crown copyright. All rights reserved 100024661 2021 

SITE 

TESCO 

 

P
age 70



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Planning Committee – 9th March 2021 

 

 

Reference No: B/20/0428 

  

Expiry Date: 28-Dec-2020 

Extension of Time: 05-Feb-2021 

  

Application Type: Advertisement Consent 

Proposal: Advertisement Consent for the installation of: 

6no. Internally Illuminated Fascia Signs 

3no. Internally Illuminated Booth Lettering Signs 

1no. Internally Illuminated Digital Both Screen 

  

Site:  Land between Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road, Wyberton, Boston 

PE21 7JF 

  

Applicant: McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Agent:  Mr Ben Fox, Planware Ltd 

  

 

Ward:   Wyberton Parish: Wyberton Parish Council 

 

Case Officer:  Simon Eldred Third Party Reps: None received 

 

Recommendation: GRANT Advertisement Consent 

Page 71



 

 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 

 

1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by Councillor 

Richard Austin, who states that the reasons for the call-in are “safeguarding of route 
for distributor road, tail backs onto public road, lack of footpath on West End Road, 

and litter issues.” 

 

1.2 As this application is directly linked to B/20/0432 which is for the main restaurant 

development, it is considered that this advertisement application (along with others of 

a similar nature which have been submitted concurrently) should be reported to the 

Committee to allow the proposals to be considered comprehensively. 

 

2.0 Application Site and Proposal 

 

2.1 The application site is located to the south of Swineshead Road and east of Wortleys 

Lane, Boston. It consists of part of a larger agricultural field (uncultivated at the time 

of the site visit). It is located in a part of the Borough where uses are very mixed, with: 

 to its west, dwellings (off both Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road), and 

industrial premises (which are allocated in the Local Plan for residential 

redevelopment); 

 to its north, dwellings  under construction on the northern side of Swineshead 

Road and (beyond the New Hammond Beck Drain) edge-of-town retail 

premises; 

 to its east, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, a farm 

shop, a business selling garden buildings, two public houses, and land on which 

planning permission is currently being exercised for the construction of a drive-

thru coffee shop; and 

 to its south, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, and land 

on which planning permission is outstanding for the construction of further 

dwellings. 

 

2.2 The application seeks advertisement consent for the display of: 

1. On the northern elevation (facing Swineshead Road) of the restaurant building 

proposed to be built under planning application B/20/0432: 

 A white internally-illuminated sign reading ‘McDonald’s’ in letters 80cm-

high, displayed 3.35m above ground-level; 

 A yellow internally-illuminated sign showing a 1.4m-high ‘golden arches’ 
symbol, displayed 3.35m above ground-level; 

 Two white internally-illuminated signs reading ‘COLLECT’ in vertically-

oriented letters, extending between 0.1m and 2.9m above ground-level; 

 A white internally-illuminated sign reading ‘PAY’ in vertically-oriented 

letters, extending between 0.89m and 2.11m above ground-level; and 

 A grey aluminium panel (0.254m x 0.327m x 0.09m) containing an 

internally-illuminated 15” LCD display screen; 
2. On the western elevation (facing Wortleys Lane) of the restaurant building 

proposed to be built under planning application B/20/0432, a yellow internally-

illuminated sign showing a 1.4m-high ‘golden arches’ symbol, displayed 3.35m 
above ground-level; 

Page 72



 

 

3. On the southern elevation of the restaurant building proposed to be built under 

planning application B/20/0432: 

 A white internally-illuminated sign reading ‘McDonald’s’ in letters 80cm-

high, displayed 3.35m above ground-level; and 

 A yellow internally-illuminated sign showing a 1.8m-high ‘golden arches’ 
symbol, displayed 2.95m above ground-level; and 

4. On the eastern elevation of the restaurant building proposed to be built under 

planning application B/20/0432 (facing the new Access Road also proposed in 

B/20/0432), a white internally-illuminated sign reading ‘McDonald’s’ in letters 
80cm-high, displayed 3.35m above ground-level. 

 

3.0 Relevant History 

 

3.1 The site has no relevant planning history, but is affected by three further applications 

which are the subjects of reports to this meeting of the Planning Committee, namely: 

 B/20/0427 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 1 

internally illuminated freestanding totem sign; 

 B/20/0429 – Application for Advertisement Consent for various site signage; 

and 

 B/20/0432 – application for full Planning Permission for the erection of a 

freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car parking, landscaping and 

associated works. 

 

4.0 Relevant Policy 

 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

 

4.1 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 shows the application site as being 

within the Countryside, immediately adjacent to Boston’s Settlement Boundary and 
within the Safeguarding Corridor. Land to the west of the application site (on the 

opposite side of Wortleys Lane) is identified as Housing Allocation Wyb013 where 85 

dwellings are expected to be built. The relevant Policies are:  

 Policy 2: Development Management; 

 Policy 3: Design of New Development; and 

 Policy 29: The Historic Environment. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

4.2 At the heart of the 2019 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:  

 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places; and 

 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 

 

Planning Practice Guidance 

 

4.3 The provisions of the Planning Practice Guidance category entitled ‘Advertisements’ 
are relevant, especially paragraphs 067 to 079. 

 

 

Page 73



 

 

5.0 Representations 

 

5.1 No representations have been received as a result of publicity. 

 

6.0 Consultations 

 

6.1 Cadent Gas identifies that there are high or intermediate pressure gas pipelines and 

associated equipment in the vicinity of the application site, but does not object as the 

proposal will not affect these pipelines. 

 

6.2 The Health and Safety Executive indicates that it does not advise against the granting 

of consent. 

 

6.3 Lincolnshire County Council identifies that the application site is located within the 

safeguarding corridor of the Boston Distributor Road, but concludes that the proposal 

is acceptable, and that it therefore does not wish to object to this application. 

 

6.4 Wyberton Parish Council indicates that, whilst the restaurant may create employment 

and may help to reduce traffic congestion in the town centre, it may also lead to extra 

litter locally, increase traffic numbers locally – potentially creating traffic congestion 

and posing a risk to pedestrians and cyclists. Consequently , the Parish Council asks 

that: 

 The applicant should make a contribution towards the construction of a 

path/cycleway on West End Road; 

 The potential for congestion in the area should be taken into consideration; 

 An area should be provided for “vehicles to park up with the takeaway and 

plenty of bins to help minimise litter in the area including the wooded areas”; 

 The applicant should work with local groups for litter picking; 

 Takeaway containers should be in biodegradable materials; and 

 Takeaway containers should be stamped with car registration numbers to 

enable those responsible for littering to be traced. 

 

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 

7.1 Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 

Regulations 2007 (as amended) indicates that “a local planning authority shall exercise 

its powers under these Regulations in the interests of amenity and public safety …” I.e. 

advertisements should be subject to control only in the interests of amenity and public 

safety. Given that: 

 the issues raised by the Parish Council; and 

 issues concerning the Safeguarding Corridor identified in the Local Plan 

do not relate directly to potential amenity or public safety impacts of the proposed 

advertisements, it is considered that they can be given no weight in the determination 

of this application. 

 

7.2 Therefore, the key considerations in regard to this application are: effects upon 

amenity; and effects on public safety. 

 

 

Page 74



 

 

Amenity 

 

7.3 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the 

locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or 

similar interest. 

 

7.4 Despite the fact that the application site is currently undeveloped and the Local Plan 

shows it as being in the Countryside, the character of the locality is very mixed and, 

although there are significant numbers of residential properties nearby, uses of a 

commercial character predominate. The surrounding area contains a large number of 

existing advertisements of various types and sizes, including: 

 At approximately 200m distance: board adverts on the frontage of Swineshead 

Road for Mastenbroek and Cola Training Services; and adverts on the 

elevations and within the curtilages of various commercial buildings (Lidl, 

Oldrids Downtown, Tesco, Hammer and Pincers PH, Chain Bridge PH, 

Mastenbroek, and B&Q); 

 At approximately 100m-150m distance: adverts on buildings and at the 

boundaries of commercial premises (Old MacDonald’s Farm Shop, B&Q, Tesco); 
and a board advert on the roundabout at the junction of New Hammond Beck 

Road with Westbridge Road; and 

 At less than 100m distance,  board advertisements for Old Macdonalds Farm 

Shop and Adventures in Wood, banner advertisements fixed to the railings of 

the bridge over the New Hammond Beck, an illuminated totem sign advertising 

the Tesco store, and boards on the frontage of Swineshead Road advertising a 

fireworks retailer and an installer of TV aerials. 

 

7.5 The proposed signs are numerous, some are relatively large in size (e.g. the 1.8m-high 

‘golden arches’ on the southern elevation), and all (even those which are primarily 

aimed at customers within the site (i.e. the ‘collect’ and ‘pay’ signs)) will be visible from 

public vantage points.  It is therefore considered that they will be prominent features 

in the street scene, even bearing in mind that: 

 the majority are not particularly large in size; 

 their colour schemes are not garish; and 

 the degree of illumination proposed is relatively modest, particularly in the 

context of the high levels of night-time illumination in the wider area. 

Nonetheless it is considered that, given the large number of advertisements displayed 

in the wider area, the proposed signs will not appear out-of-character.  Furthermore, 

given that even the closest sign will be located more than 30m from the nearest 

dwelling, it is considered that they will not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the 

amenities of residential neighbours.   

 

7.6 The application site is not within a conservation area and contains no listed buildings, 

but it does form part of the setting of a listed building (a Grade II milestone located on 

the opposite corner of Swineshead Road and Wortleys Lane). Given that: 

 even the closest sign (that on the building’s western elevation) is proposed to 

be located approximately 38m from the milepost; 

 the proposed signs are relatively small in size, are not in garish colours or 

strongly illuminated; 

Page 75



 

 

 the milepost’s immediate setting is already dominated by modern 

development of a largely suburban character; and 

 the milepost’s wider setting already contains large numbers of 

advertisements, 

it is considered that the proposals will not have any significant adverse impact upon 

the milepost’s setting. 

 

7.7 In all, it is considered the proposed signage would not harm the amenity of the area 

and as such is acceptable in this respect. 

 

Public safety 

 

7.8 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to public safety include the safety of people using 

the highway and whether the display of the advertisement is likely to: obscure or 

hinder the ready interpretation of any traffic sign; or hinder the operation of any 

security or surveillance device, or device for measuring the speed of vehicles. 

 

7.9 As was identified in paragraph 7.5 of this report, the proposed signs will be visible to 

users of nearby highways, and it is noted that they will be located within approximately 

50m of the busy roundabout at the junction of Swineshead Road with Westbridge 

Road.  Nonetheless, it is considered that, because: 

 those signs which will be visible from the busy Swineshead and Westbridge 

Roads are not particularly large in size; 

 the signs’ colour-schemes are not garish; 

 the degree of illumination proposed is relatively modest (in the context of the 

high levels of night-time illumination in the wider area); and 

 the area already contains large numbers of advertisements, 

the proposed signs will not impact upon the safety of highway users – a view shared 

by the Highway Authority.  Equally, it is considered that the signs will not impact upon 

the operation of the town’s CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

 

7.10 It is considered the proposed signage would not harm public safety and as such is 

acceptable in this respect. 

 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 

 

8.1 The application site is located in a part of the town where commercial uses are 

concentrated, and where advertisements are common.  It is considered that the 

proposals: 

 are in keeping with the general characteristics of the locality, and will not have 

any significant adverse impact upon the setting of the nearby listed milepost; 

and 

 will not impact upon the safety of highway users or the operation of the town’s 
CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

 

 

 

Page 76



 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

 

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee GRANTS Advertisement Consent, subject to 

the following conditions and reasons:- 

 

1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 

2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict accordance 

with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details shown on drawings: 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL02 A (Nov 2020): Site Location Plan Adverts; 

 Drawing Number 7589-SA-8675-P109 B (Feb 2019): Proposed Signage 

Elevations; 

 Drawing Number 7655-SA-XXXX-SK42 B (July 2019): Drive Thru Signage Details; 

 Un-numbered Drawing  (Job No. 11358-AEW-XXXX-SK01 Rev A - 22/05/2019): 

Proposed Reconnect Screen Details; 

 Un-numbered Drawing (21-09-2010): McDonald’s 800mm Alfresco Roof 
Letters; and 

 Un-numbered Drawing (21-09-2010):McDonald’s 1400mm Alfresco Roof Arch. 
 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved 

details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(February 2019). 

 

3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site 

or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 

(ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military); 

(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal 

or aid to navigation by water or air; or 

(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 

surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

(iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 

shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site. 

(iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 

advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the 

public. 

(v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the site 

shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity. 

 

Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control of 

Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 

 

 

Page 77



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 78



  
 

 
 

 

PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0429 

 

Planning Application: 

Advertisement Consent for Various Site Signage        
4no. Internally Illuminated Freestanding Signs       

2no. Banner Units                              
1no. Play Land Sign                            
23.no Dot Signs  

Location: 

Land to the South of Swineshead Road and                           
East of Wortley's Lane, Wyberton, Boston, PE21 7JF 

 

Applicant: 

McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Page 79

Agenda Item 5



L ocation Plan for indicative purposes only © Crown copyright. All rights reserved 100024661 2021 

SITE 

TESCO 

 

P
age 80



 

 

BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

 

Planning Committee – 9th March 2021 

 

 

Reference No: B/20/0429 

  

Expiry Date: 28-Dec-2020 

Extension of Time: 05-Feb-2021 

  

Application Type: Advertisement Consent 

Proposal: Advertisement Consent for: 

Various Site Signage  

4no. Internally Illuminated Freestanding Signs 

2no. Banner Units 

1no. Play Land Sign 

23.no Dot Signs  

  

Site:  Land to the South of Swineshead Road and East of Wortley's Lane, 

Wyberton, Boston PE21 7JF 

  

Applicant: McDonald's Restaurants Limited 

Agent:  Mr Ben Fox, Planware Ltd 

  
 

Ward:   Wyberton Parish: Wyberton Parish Council 

 

Case Officer:  Simon Eldred Third Party Reps: None received 

 

  Recommendation: GRANT Advertisement Consent 

Page 81



 

 

 

1.0 Reason for Report 

 

1.1 This item has been called in for consideration by the Planning Committee by Councillor 

Richard Austin, who states that the reasons for the call-in are “safeguarding of route 
for distributor road, tail backs onto public road, lack of footpath on West End Road, 

and litter issues.” 

 

1.2 As this application is directly linked to B/20/0432 which is for the main restaurant 

development, it is considered that this advertisement application (along with others of 

a similar nature which have been submitted concurrently) should be reported to the 

Committee to allow the proposals to be considered comprehensively. 

 

2.0 Application Site and Proposal 

 

2.1 The application site is located to the south of Swineshead Road and east of Wortleys 

Lane, Boston. It consists of part of a larger agricultural field (uncultivated at the time 

of the site visit).  It is located in a part of the Borough where uses are very mixed, with: 

 to its west, dwellings (off both Wortleys Lane and Swineshead Road), and industrial 

premises (which are allocated in the Local Plan for residential redevelopment); 

 to its north, dwellings  under construction on the northern side of Swineshead 

Road and (beyond the New Hammond Beck Drain) edge-of-town retail premises; 

 to its east, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, a farm shop, 

a business selling garden buildings, two public houses, and land on which planning 

permission is currently being exercised for the construction of a drive-thru coffee 

shop; and 

 to its south, the remainder of the agricultural field, scattered dwellings, and land 

on which planning permission is outstanding for the construction of further 

dwellings. 

 

2.2 The application seeks advertisement consent for the display of the following signs 

within the curtilage of the restaurant proposed to be built under planning application 

B/20/0432: 

1. 2 unilluminated signs (70cm x 28cm) with white backgrounds displaying the ‘golden 
arches’ logo, a wheelchair logo, and black text reading ‘Accessible Parking Bay’, 
displayed on metal posts (with the base of the sign 0.5m above ground-level) at 

the south-eastern corner of the proposed restaurant building; 

2. 3 internally-illuminated double digital menu boards (1.367m x 1.573m) displayed 

on aluminium posts (with the bases of the menu boards 0.667m above ground-

level) within the drive-thru lanes and to the west of the proposed restaurant 

building; 

3. 1 internally-illuminated single digital menu board (1.367m x .84m) displayed on an 

aluminium post (with the base of the menu board 0.596m above ground-level) 

within the drive-thru lanes and to the south-west of the proposed restaurant 

building; 

4. 2 dark-olive coloured, unilluminated double-sided banner units (4.82m wide x 

1.16m high) with the bases of the units 0.9m above ground-level, one towards the 

site’s north-western corner and the other towards its south-eastern corner; 

Page 82



 

 

5. 2 unilluminated signs (70cm x 28cm) with white backgrounds displaying the ‘golden 
arches’ logo, and black text reading ‘Parked Order Bay 1 or 2’, displayed on metal 
posts (with the base of the sign 0.9m above ground-level) to the east of the 

proposed restaurant building; 

6. 15 unilluminated traffic-control signs (‘Speed Limit 10MPH’, ‘Give Way’, ‘No Entry’, 
‘Pedestrian Crossing’, and ‘Caution Look Left/Right/Both Ways’), displayed on 

metal posts (with the bases of the signs 0.9m or 1m above ground-level) at various 

locations within the site; 

7. 3 unilluminated signs (70cm x 28cm) with white backgrounds displaying the ‘golden 
arches’ logo, a yellow litterbin logo, and red and black text reading ‘Litter - Please 

put your Litter in the Bin Provided - Our Litter Patrol operates in this Area’, 
displayed on metal posts (with the base of the sign 0.5m above ground-level) at 

various location; and 

8. 1 dark-olive coloured sign (1.1m x 1.1m) with internally illuminated white text 

reading ‘play land’ and an internally-illuminated red, yellow and white logo, 

displayed 2.06m above ground-level on the western façade of the outdoor climbing 

frame proposed to the east of the restaurant building. 

 

3.0 Relevant History 

 

3.1 The site has no relevant planning history, but is affected by three further applications 

which are the subjects of reports to this meeting of the Planning Committee, namely: 

 B/20/0427 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 1 

internally illuminated freestanding totem sign; 

 B/20/0428 – Application for Advertisement Consent for the installation of 10 

internally illuminated signs; and 

 B/20/0432 – application for full Planning Permission for the erection of a 

freestanding restaurant with drive-thru facility, car parking, landscaping and 

associated works. 

 

4.0 Relevant Policy 

 

South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

 

4.1 The South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 2011-2036 shows the application site as being 

within the Countryside, immediately adjacent to Boston’s Settlement Boundary and 
within the Safeguarding Corridor. Land to the west of the application site (on the 

opposite side of Wortleys Lane) is identified as Housing Allocation Wyb013 where 85 

dwellings are expected to be built. The relevant Policies are:  

 Policy 2: Development Management; 

 Policy 3: Design of New Development; and 

 Policy 29: The Historic Environment. 

 

National Planning Policy Framework 

 

4.2 At the heart of the 2019 Framework is a presumption in favour of sustainable 

development. The following sections are relevant to this scheme:  

 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places; and 

 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment. 

Page 83



 

 

 

Planning Practice Guidance 

 

4.3 The provisions of the Planning Practice Guidance category entitled ‘Advertisements’ 
are relevant, especially paragraphs 067 to 079. 

 

5.0 Representations 

 

5.1 No representations have been received as a result of publicity. 

 

6.0 Consultations 

 

6.1 Cadent Gas identifies that there are high or intermediate pressure gas pipelines and 

associated equipment in the vicinity of the application site, but does not object as the 

proposal will not affect these pipelines. 

 

6.2 The Health and Safety Executive indicates that it does not advise against the granting 

of consent. 

 

6.3 Lincolnshire County Council identifies that the application site is located within the 

safeguarding corridor of the Boston Distributor Road, but concludes that the proposal 

is acceptable, and that it therefore does not wish to object to this application. 

 

6.4 Wyberton Parish Council indicates that, whilst the restaurant may create employment 

and may help to reduce traffic congestion in the town centre, it may also lead to extra 

litter locally, increase traffic numbers locally – potentially creating traffic congestion 

and posing a risk to pedestrians and cyclists. Consequently , the Parish Council asks 

that: 

 The applicant should make a contribution towards the construction of a 

path/cycleway on West End Road; 

 The potential for congestion in the area should be taken into consideration; 

 An area should be provided for “vehicles to park up with the takeaway and 

plenty of bins to help minimise litter in the area including the wooded areas”; 

 The applicant should work with local groups for litter picking; 

 Takeaway containers should be in biodegradable materials; and 

 Takeaway containers should be stamped with car registration numbers to 

enable those responsible for littering to be traced. 

 

7.0 Planning Issues and Discussions 

 

7.1 Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) 

Regulations 2007 (as amended) indicates that “a local planning authority shall exercise 
its powers under these Regulations in the interests of amenity and public safety …” I.e. 

advertisements should be subject to control only in the interests of amenity and public 

safety. Given that: 

 the issues raised by the Parish Council; and 

 issues concerning the Safeguarding Corridor identified in the Local Plan 

Page 84



 

 

do not relate directly to potential amenity or public safety impacts of the proposed 

advertisements, it is considered that they can be given no weight in the determination 

of this application. 

 

7.2 Therefore, the key considerations in regard to this application are: effects upon 

amenity; and effects on public safety. 

 

Amenity 

 

7.3 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to amenity include the general characteristics of the 

locality, including the presence of any feature of historic, architectural, cultural or 

similar interest. 

 

7.4 Despite the fact that the application site is currently undeveloped and the Local Plan 

shows it as being in the Countryside, the character of the locality is very mixed and, 

although there are significant numbers of residential properties nearby, uses of a 

commercial character predominate. The surrounding area contains a large number of 

existing advertisements of various types and sizes, including: 

 At approximately 200m distance: board adverts on the frontage of Swineshead 

Road for Mastenbroek and Cola Training Services; and adverts on the elevations 

and within the curtilages of various commercial buildings (Lidl, Oldrids Downtown, 

Tesco, Hammer and Pincers PH, Chain Bridge PH, Mastenbroek, and B&Q); 

 At approximately 100m-150m distance: adverts on buildings and at the boundaries 

of commercial premises (Old MacDonald’s Farm Shop, B&Q, Tesco); and a board 
advert on the roundabout at the junction of New Hammond Beck Road with 

Westbridge Road; and 

 At less than 100m distance,  board advertisements for Old Macdonalds Farm Shop 

and Adventures in Wood, banner advertisements fixed to the railings of the bridge 

over the New Hammond Beck, an illuminated totem sign advertising the Tesco 

store, and boards on the frontage of Swineshead Road advertising a fireworks 

retailer and an installer of TV aerials. 

 

7.5 It is noted that the proposed signs are numerous, a few are internally-illuminated and 

a few are located close to the site’s boundaries with Swineshead Road and Wortleys 
Lane.  It is nonetheless considered that they will have relatively little impact upon the 

street scene because: 

 almost all are relatively small in size; 

 only 1 is displayed at a height of more than 2m above ground-level; 

 their colour schemes are not garish; and 

 the degree of illumination proposed is relatively modest, particularly in the context 

of the high levels of night-time illumination in the wider area. 

 

7.6 Taking account of the above factors and, given the large number of advertisements 

displayed in the wider area, it is considered that the proposed signs will not appear 

out-of-character with their surroundings. Furthermore, taking into account the closest 

sign will be located approximately 25m from the nearest dwelling, it is considered that 

they will not have unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of residential 

neighbours.   

Page 85



 

 

 

7.7 The application site is not within a conservation area and contains no listed buildings, 

but it does form part of the setting of a listed building (a Grade II milestone located on 

the opposite corner of Swineshead Road and Wortleys Lane).  Given that: 

 even the closest sign (an unilluminated double-sided banner unit) is proposed to 

be located approximately 25m from the milepost, and that the most distant signs 

will be more than 100m away; 

 the proposed signs are relatively small in size, are not in garish colours, most are 

unilluminated and, even where illumination is proposed, levels will be modest; 

 the milepost’s immediate setting is already dominated by modern development of 

a largely suburban character; and 

 the milepost’s wider setting already contains large numbers of advertisements, 

it is considered that the proposals will not have any significant adverse impact upon 

the milepost’s setting. 

 

7.8 It is considered the proposed signs would not harm the amenity of the area and as such 

is acceptable in this respect. 

 

Public safety 

 

7.9 The Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 

2007 identify that factors relevant to public safety include the safety of people using 

the highway and whether the display of the advertisement is likely to: obscure or 

hinder the ready interpretation of any traffic sign; or hinder the operation of any 

security or surveillance device, or device for measuring the speed of vehicles. 

 

7.10 Some of the proposed signs will be visible to users of nearby highways, and it is noted 

that the closest will be located within approximately 30m of the busy roundabout at 

the junction of Swineshead Road with Westbridge Road.  Furthermore, some of the 

proposed signs some take the form of Department of Transport signs.  Nonetheless, it 

is considered that, because: 

 few signs will be easily visible from the busy Swineshead and Westbridge Roads, 

and those which are visible are not particularly large in size and are very unlikely 

to be confused with traffic signs; 

 the signs’ colour-schemes generally are not garish; 

 few are proposed to be illuminated (and for those which are, the degree of 

illumination proposed is relatively modest (particularly in the context of the high 

levels of night-time illumination in the wider area)); and 

 the area already contains large numbers of advertisements, 

the proposed signs will not impact upon the safety of highway users – a view shared 

by the Highway Authority.  Equally, it is considered that the signs will not impact upon 

the operation of the town’s CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

 

7.11 It is considered the proposed signs would not harm public safety and as such is 

acceptable in this respect. 

 

 

 

 

Page 86



 

 

8.0 Summary and Conclusion 

 

8.1 The application site is located in a part of the town where commercial uses are 

concentrated, and where advertisements are common. It is considered that the 

proposals: 

 are in keeping with the general characteristics of the locality, and will not have 

any significant adverse impact upon the setting of the nearby listed milepost; 

and 

 will not impact upon the safety of highway users or the operation of the town’s 
CCTV or speed-control cameras. 

 

9.0 Recommendation 

 

9.1 It is recommended that the Committee GRANTS Advertisement Consent, subject to 

the following conditions and reasons:- 

 

1. This consent expires after 5 years from the day consent was initially granted. 

 

Reason: Required to be imposed by Section 14 of the Town and Country Planning 

(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 

2. The signage hereby approved by this consent shall be carried out in strict accordance 

with the application received 02-Nov-2020, and with the details shown on drawings: 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-AL02 A (Nov 2020): Site Location Plan 

Adverts; 

 Drawing Number 7489-SA-8675-P108 D (Feb 2019): Site Layout Plan Site 

Signage; 

 Un-numbered Drawing (10 August 2016): ERDDS Banner Unit; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Accessible Parking Bay; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Caution – Look Left Traffic Approaching and 

Caution – Look Right Traffic Approaching Signs; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Give Way; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Litter Sign; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Caution Look Both Ways Sign; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage No Entry; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Parked Order Bay 1; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Parked Order Bay 2; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: DOT Signage Pedestrian Crossing; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: 10MPH Disc; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Playland Logo Outdoor Untis (sic) Logo: 1100mm; 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Double Digital Menu Board; and 

 Un-numbered Drawing: Single Digital Menu Board. 

 

Reason: To ensure the development is undertaken in accordance with the approved 

details, and to comply with Policies 2, 3 and 29 of the South East Lincolnshire Local 

Plan 2011-2036, and guidance contained in the National Planning Policy Framework 

(February 2019). 

 

Page 87



 

 

 

3. (i) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission. 

(ii) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to— 

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or 

aerodrome (civil or military); 

(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal 

or aid to navigation by water or air; or 

(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or 

surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle. 

(iii) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 

advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual 

amenity of the site. 

(iv) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 

displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 

endanger the public. 

(v) Where an advertisement is required under this permission to be removed, the 

site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual 

amenity. 

 

Reason: Standard conditions imposed by the Town and Country Planning (Control 

of Advertisement) Regulations 2007. 

Page 88



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: Planning Committee 

DATE: 9 March 2021 

SUBJECT: Infrastructure Funding Statement 

KEY DECISION: 

  

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:              

N/A 

 

Councillor Nigel Welton 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

 

Elaine Henton, Planning Policy & Section 106 Officer 

 

 

SUMMARY 

This report provides a summary of the Council’s first Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS), 

which has been produced in accordance with the introduction of the Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL) Regulations 2019 and also reports on the new Section 106 (S106) monitoring fees, 

which were introduced in December 2020.  It also provides a wider update on activities relating 

to S106 agreements. 

The IFS provides details of planning obligations entered into within 2019/20, following the 

adoption of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan, and also details the payments received for 

historic agreements, where triggers for obligations have been met, S106 monies currently held 

by the Council and any spend of S106 monies made within that year. 

The S106 monitoring fees were introduced in December 2020 in accordance with the updated 

CIL regulations.  

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The Committee are asked to note the Infrastructure Funding Statement and the information 

regarding the introduction of the S106 Monitoring Fees. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To inform elected members of the reason for the production and publication of the IFS and the 

introduction of the Monitoring Fees. 

 Page 89

Agenda Item 6



OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Not to provide the report. 

 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

1.1 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 2019 introduced in September 2019 

required that all local planning authorities that are a contribution receiving authority 

publish an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) at least annually and include information 

as set out in Schedule 2 of the Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010.   As a 

contribution receiving authority which receives monies or works from Section 106 (S106) 

agreements, the Council had to produce an IFS for publication.   This was a new duty from 

December 2020.   

1.2 The Council’s IFS had to be published by 31 December 2020 for the period 1 April 2019 to 
31 March 2020 and contain information relating to new planning obligations entered into 

that year, any obligation triggers that have been met, as well as all unspent money from 

previous years and any monies unspent within the timescales specified within the 

agreement for the 2019/20 period.    

1.3 In May 2020, the Council appointed a part time Planning Policy and S106 Officer to create a 

S106 register that was sufficient to meet the requirements of this new duty.  This position 

includes the monitoring of all stages of all planning obligations, and publishing the yearly 

IFS and csv files as required by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

(MHCLG).  

 

2.0 THE INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT 

 

2.1 To collect data for the Infrastructure Funding Statement, the S106 obligation database was 

created and is monitored in line with the Government’s data format. This data included 

details of the development and site, what infrastructure is to be provided (including any 

information on affordable housing delivery) and any trigger points or deadlines for 

contributions, when developer contributions are received and when contributions have 

been spent or transferred to other parties. 

 

2.2 This IFS is the first public statement on infrastructure delivery via developer contributions 

by the Council and the decision was taken to showcase what developer contributions have 

helped to deliver, what they are in the process of delivering and what the new agreements 

are seeking to achieve to deliver the infrastructure needs and requirements arising from 

developments within the Borough. 

 

2.3  The IFS, along with three reporting data csv files detailing developer agreements, 

developer contributions and developer agreement transactions which occurred within 

2019/20, was published on the Council’s website in December 2020 and sent off to MHCLG. 

The IFS is attached to the report as Appendix A. 

 

2.4 In summary, the IFS reports that 11 new developer agreements were entered into in 

2019/20, which contained a total of £97,665 of monetary obligations (including education 

and affordable housing contributions) and 144 new affordable housing units (from 8 

development sites) to be provided with within the borough.   

 

Page 90



2.5 The IFS also reports: 

 a total 63 affordable housing units were delivered in 2019/20; 

 the completion of the Garfits Lane Multi Use Games Area;  

 education contributions received for an extension to Boston West Academy and an 

additional science laboratory at Haven High Academy 

 £242,800.84 of education monies held by Lincolnshire County Council and where the 

monies are to be spent on improving schools such as Giles Academy, Haven High and 

Swineshead Primary School.    

 

2.6 The report is displayed on our website in line with the regulations.  Following submission of 

the IFS, feedback was received from MHCLG which stated that the IFS report ‘Looks 
excellent, comprehensive and very clear’. 

 

3.0 S106 MONITORING FEES  

 

3.1 The monitoring of Section 106 planning obligations can be costly and requires significant 

resource. The updated CIL Regulations confirm that a local planning authority may lawfully 

include a monitoring fee in relation to planning obligations, providing they are 

proportionate, reasonable and reflect the actual cost of monitoring the development over 

the lifetime of the related planning obligation. 

 

3.2 A S106 monitoring fee should cover officer time (including on costs and overheads) spent 

maintaining the database, logging agreements, checking triggers, estimating indexed 

amounts, receipts of contributions, monitoring, recording and reporting of spend, returning 

of unspent monies (where applicable) and records of discharging of obligations, etc  It is a 

cost-recovery model as ultimately the monitoring fee should not negatively impact on the 

ability for developers to enter into agreements. 

 

3.3 In December 2020, following research of various local planning authorities practices of S106 

monitoring fees and assessment of the time required for monitoring of planning 

obligations, the Council implemented S106 monitoring fees (including fees for Deeds of 

Variation).  The fees schedule is attached as Appendix B to this report for information.  

 

3.4 The Council also introduced a fee for compliance checks (made under S106 of the Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990) to seek that planning obligations contained within S106 

agreements have been met.  This service is mainly used by solicitors acting in connection 

with house purchases due to the legal agreements appearing on the land charges register. 

 

3.5 The monitoring fee charges (including the compliance check fee) will be reviewed on an 

annual basis to ensure that they remain proportionate and in line with the regulations. 

 

4.0 CONCLUSION 

 

4.1 The Council was able to meet the required deadlines for producing and publishing the IFS 

and data files and reporting to MHCLG, and remains committed to working with the local 

community, developers and stakeholders alike to ensure that planning contributions are 

sought, used appropriately and monitored, to deliver the infrastructure needs and 

requirements arising from development with the borough.   

 

 

Page 91



APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

APPENDIX B S106 Monitoring Fee Charges 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author:  Elaine Henton, Planning Policy & S106 Officer 

elaine.henton@boston.gov.uk  

Signed off by: Mike Gildersleeves, Assistant Director – Planning 

mike.gildersleeves@boston.gov.uk 

 

 

 

Page 92

mailto:elaine.henton@boston.gov.uk
mailto:mike.gildersleeves@boston.gov.uk


  APPENDIX A 

Page 93



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

2 

 

 

 

Contents 

  Page 

 

1. Introduction 3 

 

2. 

 

Section 106 Developer Contributions Explained 4 

 

3. Summary of S106 Planning Obligations for 2019/20 

 

5 

4. Section 106 Agreements Entered into in 2019/20* 

 

5 

 

5. 

 

Affordable Housing 6 

6. 

 

Education 8 

7. 

 

Health 10 

8. 

 

Highways 10 

9. 

 

Open Space 11 

10. Conclusion 

 

12 

 

 

*Appendix 1 – List of all Legal Agreements entered into 

in 2019/20 

13 

  

Page 94



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

3 

 

 

1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Welcome to Boston Borough Council’s Infrastructure Funding Statement.  This 

sets out the year’s income and expenditure relating to the Section 106 (S106) 
agreements for 2019/20. 
 

1.2 Section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 allows Local Planning 
Authorities (LPAs) to impose restrictions or requirements on land, including the 
payment of monies towards infrastructure or securing affordable housing. 
Collectively, these are known as planning obligations and may take the form of 
an agreement between a developer/landowner, the Council and possibly other 
parties, or alternatively, a unilateral undertaking providing a legal commitment 
by the developer alone – both are collectively known as S106 agreements.  

 
1.3 The publication of this Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) is a legal 

requirement arising from the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Regulations 
2019. The information included in the report will be updated annually and 
published on the Council’s website. This will ensure the most up to date 
information as possible on the amount of developer contributions secured and 
received from new developments, in addition to information on where these 
monies are held or have been spent, as well as provision of certain on-site 
infrastructure such as affordable housing is readily available to members of the 
public and other interested parties. As Boston Borough Council does not have 
a CIL, this statement is purely to report on the S106 planning obligations. This 
is the first IFS and complies with the requirement to cover the financial year 
2019/20 (1 April 2019 to 31 March 2020). 
 

1.4 Please note that data on developer contributions within this IFS is classed as 
live because in some cases it represents estimates at a given point in time and 
can be subject to change. The data reported within this document is the most 
robust available at the time of publication. This can be due to permissions with 
S106 agreements expiring, formulas for education based on outline 
permissions which can alter at full planning permission stage, Deeds of 
Variations being signed which alter the obligation amount in the original S106 
agreement entered into.  

 
1.5 Section 4 of this Statement provides a brief overview of the S106 obligations, 

which have been entered into during the first full adopted year of the South East 
Lincolnshire Local Plan. The remaining Sections 5 to 9 provides a breakdown 
of the key areas where funding or infrastructure has been secured, namely for 
affordable housing, open space, education, highways, health and 
miscellaneous/other. These sections also detail, where applicable, the different 
stages of the S106 process from securing the monies through to expenditure, 
largely based on the categories identified in the CIL Regulations 2019. It will 
include payments received for historic agreements, where triggers for 
obligations have been met. 

 

Page 95



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

4 

 

 

 
2. Section 106 Developer Contributions Explained 
 
2.1 Policy 6 of the South East Lincolnshire Local Plan (SELLP), which was adopted 

in March 2018, provides guidance on how developer contributions will operate 
within South East Lincolnshire in the absence of a CIL, with such contributions 
being secured through Section 106 agreements.  Developer contributions will 
also be subject to the criteria set out in the Community Infrastructure 
Regulations (2010) 122 and 123 (or any successors) which require any financial 
contribution or contributions in kind towards infrastructure to meet a number of 
criteria, ie affordable housing, highways, education, health, open space. 

 
2.2 For a number of years up until 2019 the government imposed pooling 

restrictions, allowing no more than 5 obligations to fund the same item of 
infrastructure. It became increasingly necessary for the obligation to identify a 
specific project, such as an individual play area or a new classroom for a certain 
school, which could severely restrict flexibility if spending priorities changed. 
The lifting of these restrictions makes the S106 process more manageable to 
deliver key projects. 

 
2.3 Once a s106 has been entered into, the planning obligations contained within 

it will only be realised if the planning permission is implemented and trigger 
points are reached for payment, such as ‘commencement’ or ‘prior to 
occupation’. When the planning permission is granted, the s106 obligation is 
registered as a land charge which stays with the land, obligating any future 
owners until the terms are met.  It can sometimes take several years for S106 
obligations to be delivered after receiving the granting of planning permission 
for a development site, which can be due to phased delivery or obligation 
triggers due upon completion on site. 

 
2.4 When the trigger for a planning obligation has been met, ie a certain number of 

dwellings have been built/occupied on site as detailed within the S106 
agreement, the obligation is deemed to be ‘secured’.  The Council will contact 
the developer, notifying them that payment is due. 

 
2.5 It is important to note that “allocated” means a decision has been made by the 

local authority to commit funds to an item of infrastructure or project. For most 
Section 106 agreements, this decision has been made at the planning 
application stage with each infrastructure or project requirement specified 
within the legal agreement.  

 
2.6 It is similarly important to note that “unallocated” money will still be bound by 

the terms of the Section 106 legal agreement and, as a minimum, will be 
required to be spent on a particular infrastructure type specified within the 
agreement, ie affordable housing or equipped play areas. Further, individual 
Section 106 legal agreements usually specify criteria needing to be met for 
“unallocated” money to be allocated to a project. For example, the Section 106 

Page 96



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

5 

 

 

legal agreement may specify that the monies may only be spent on open space 
projects within a certain area.  

  
 
3. Summary of S106 Planning Obligations for 2019/20: 
 
3.1 The total number of legal agreements entered into or provided to the council 

under s106 in 2019/2020 was 11. 
 
3.2  The total amount of money under any planning obligations which were entered 

into during the financial year 2019/20 is £97,665.00. 
 
3.3 The total amount of money under any planning obligations which was received 

during the financial year 2019/20 is £28,877.71. 
 
3.4 The total amount of money spent under any planning obligations during the 

financial year 2019/20 is £77,000. 
 
3.5  The total amount of money held at the end of the financial year 2019/20 under 

any planning obligations to be allocated or spent (including monies held by 
Lincolnshire County Council (LCC) (as the Local Education Authority) is 
£298,800.84. 

 
3.6 The only non-monetary planning obligation contributions which were entered 

into during the financial year 2019/20 were for Affordable Housing.  The total 
number of units from these agreements which will be provided within the 
borough is 144. 

 
3.7 The CIL Regulations require the amount of money (received under planning 

obligations) and spent on repaying money borrowed to be reported. In the case 
of Boston Borough Council this was nil. 

 
 
4. Section 106 Agreements Entered into in 2019/20: 
 
4.1 Of the 11 legal agreements signed in 2019/20 (including Deeds of Variations to 

existing S106 agreements), notable development sites included:  
 

 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Development Site 
 

 
Obligations 
 

 
B/18/0328 

 
Land adjacent to Magnolia Lodge, 
Benington Road 

 

 Affordable Housing 

 Education 
 
B/19/0002 

 
7 Lincoln Lane, Boston 

 

 Specialist Affordable 
Rented Living Flats 

 
B/16/0372/CD3 

 
Land off Ashton Hall Drive, Boston 

 

Page 97



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

6 

 

 

 Affordable Housing 
Commuted Sum 

 
 
B/16/0137 

 
Land west of Boston Road, Kirton 

 

 Affordable Housing 
 

B/19/0288/CD2 Land off Grayling Way, Boston  Affordable Housing 
 

 
For a Full List of the signed Legal Agreements in 2019/20 see Appendix A 
 

 
S106 agreements and other relevant documentation from each planning 
application can be viewed on the Council’s website at: 
https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/ Search under the 
planning application reference number. 

 
 
5. Affordable Housing 
 
5.1 Securing the delivery of affordable housing remains one of the strategic 

priorities for Boston Borough Council. Policy 18 of the SELLP sets out the need 
and delivery for affordable housing within the borough, which was informed by 
the Strategic Housing Market Assessment which confirmed a significant 
proportion of the overall housing need is required to be met by affordable 
housing. Whilst existing social housing stock, properties in the private-rented 
sector and vacant housing brought back into use, will continue to meet needs 
it is recognised that new affordable housing stock is needed to improve choice 
and provide improved accommodation that is more energy efficient. As a result, 
new affordable housing may be provided in many ways, ie by developers who 
are acting as social landlords, or can also be provided as a proportion of a 
market housing development scheme.  

 
5.2 In 2019/20, there were 8 new legal agreements signed which will deliver 144 

new affordable housing units within the borough: 
 
 

 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Development Site 
 

 
Affordable 
Housing Units 
 

 
B/18/0328 

 
Land adjacent to Magnolia Lodge, Benington 
Road 

 
   4 

 
B/19/0002 

 
7 Lincoln Lane, Boston 

 
 18 

 
B/16/0372 

 
Land off Ashton Hall Drive, Boston 

 
   8 

 
B/16/0137 

 
Land west of Boston Road, Kirton 

 
 37 

 
B/18/0435 

 
Land north of Langrick Road, Boston 

 
 10 

Page 98

https://www.mybostonuk.com/planning-application-search/


Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

7 

 

 

  

Page 99



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

8 

 

 

 
B/19/0169 

 
Former Phoenix Poultry Farm, Swineshead Road, 
Wyberton 
 

 
 25 
 

B/12/0171 & 
B/16/0372 
 

Land off Ashton Hall Drive, Boston, Lincolnshire, 
PE21 7BF 

 16 

B/19/0288 Land off Grayling Way, Boston  26 
 

  
    TOTAL: 

 
 144 
 

 
5.3 In 2019/20 a total of 63 affordable housing units were delivered within the 

borough, across 7 development sites, including Girl’s School Lane, Butterwick 
and Callum Johnson Close, Boston.   

  
 
 

 
Girls School Lane, Butterwick 

 
Callum Johnson Close, Boston 

 
 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Development Site 
 

 
Affordable Housing 
Delivered 
 

 
B/12/0171 

 
Land off Ashton Hall Drive, Boston 

 
3 Units 

 
B/14/0165 

 
Land either side of the A16, south of Tytton 
Lane East, Boston (Quadrant) 

 
4 Units 

 
B/15/0391 

 
Land off London Road, Kirton 

 
4 Unit 
 

B/16/0106 Land north of Puritan Way, Boston 8 Units 
 
B/17/0315 

 
Site B, Land off Girls School Lane, Butterwick 

 
7 Units 

 
B/17/0316 

 
Site A, Land off Girls School Lane, Butterwick 

 
7 Units 

 
B/18/0395 

 
Land off Puritan Way, Boston 

 
30 Units 
 

  
    TOTAL: 

 
63 Units 
 

Page 100



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

9 

 

 

 
5.4 A commuted sum of £29,700.00 was entered into from a legal agreement for 

land off Ashton Hall Drive (B/16/0372/CD3), which when received, will be 
allocated and spent on the future provision of affordable housing within the 
borough of Boston.  

 
 
6. Education 
 
6.1 The SELLP Appendix 8: Developer Contributions for Education Facilities 

provides details of how education contributions are calculated and sought to 
provide the additional capacity required as identified within the South East 
Lincolnshire Infrastructure Delivery Plan 2016 (IDP), in which Lincolnshire 
County Council confirmed capacity issues across South East Lincolnshire, with 
limited capacity for primary, secondary and sixth form education facilities across 
the Boston area.  The IDP identifies that ‘there is an overall requirement for 
approximately £75m worth of investment in education infrastructure to meet 
planned needs’ across South East Lincolnshire.   

  
6.2 In 2019/20 a total of £67,965.00 of education contributions was entered into 

within the borough.  This was from planning application B/18/0328 - land 
adjacent to Magnolia Lodge, Benington Road, which will contribute towards the 
provision of four additional classrooms at Haven High Academy Tollfield 
Campus. 

 
 

 
Haven High Academy – Tollfield Campus 

 
6.3 In 2019/20, a payment of £28,877.71 was received by LCC from a S106 

planning obligation for the development at Land off Phoenix Poultry Farm, 
Swineshead Road, Wyberton Fen (B/16/0298) towards the extension of Boston 
West Academy and an additional science laboratory at Haven High Academy. 

Page 101



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

10 

 

 

 

 
Boston West Academy  

 
Haven High Academy 

 
 
6.4 As at 31 March 2020, LCC retained a total of £242,800.84 in respect of 

planning obligations within the borough which remains unallocated at present:    
 
 

 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Development Site 
 

 
Amount 
Held  
 

 
Contribution Purpose 

 
B/15/0485 

 
White Hart, Church Road, Old 
Leake 

 
£  36,966.71 

 
One additional classroom at The 
Giles Academy, Old Leake 

 
B/16/0015 

 
Land off Whitebridges, St 
Thomas Drive, Boston 
 

 
£  51,604.36 

 
Towards an additional science 
laboratory at Haven High Academy 

B/16/0052 Land off Station Road, 
Swineshead 

£125,341.84 Towards one additional classroom at 
Swineshead Primary School 

    
B/16/0298 Land at Phoenix Poultry 

Farm, Swineshead Road, 
Wyberton Fen 

£  28,887.93 40% towards an extension of Boston 
West Primary School/60% towards an 
additional science laboratory at 
Haven High Academy  

  
TOTAL HELD BY LCC:  

 
£242,800.84 
 

 

 
 LCC work with the Council to notify us when monies for planning obligations for 

education are secured, received, allocated, spent and returned. 
 
6.5  S106 agreements signed in previous years which include planning obligations 

for education yet to be triggered include: 
 

 Land either side of the A16, south of Tytton Lane East, Boston (Quadrant) 

 Land at Station Road, Sutterton 

 Land east of Lindis Road, Fishtoft 

 Woods Nurseries Site, High Street, Swineshead 

 Land to the north and west of Cole's Lane, Swineshead 
 

Page 102



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

11 

 

 

7. Health 

 
7.1 SELLP Policies 5, 6 and 32 recognise the need to help make provision for 

health care facilities to meet local needs, thus contributing to the health and 
wellbeing of residents.  The South East Lincolnshire IDP identifies that 
additional GP’s surgeries are likely to be required to meet the plan period 
growth (2036).  Therefore developer contributions for new or improved health 
care facilities will be sought from relevant residential developments. 

 
7.2 Although no new planning obligations for health were signed in 2019/20, 

development sites have commenced or were already under construction within 
the borough, which include planning obligations for health, the obligations for 
which were yet to be triggered: 

 
 
Planning 
Application 
 

 
Development Site 
 

 
Health Contribution 
 

 
B/14/0165 

 
Land either side of the A16, south of 
Tytton Lane East, Boston (Quadrant) 

 
£200,000.00 

 
B/17/0404 

 
Land to the north and west of Cole's 
Lane, Swineshead 

 
£  32,856.00 

   
  

     
 
 

 
 
8. Highways 
 
8.1 The Boston Distributor Road (BDR) is a long term highway development 

programme, which in the main is led and facilitated by development 
opportunities (Policy 34 of the SELLP) and has been split into 3 phases.   The 
BDR is also one of the many proposals in the Boston Transport Strategy 2017 
linked with improving accessibility and better use of the strategic highway 
network. 

 
8.2 Phase 1 of the BDR delivery links 

the A16 to London Road through 
a development known as Q1, a 
mixed use development which is 
being delivered under a planning 
obligation for highways, for which 
the S106 agreement was signed 
in 2015 (B/14/0165).  Works have 
been ongoing throughout 2019/20 
with a view to completing the 
works in 2021. 
 

 

Page 103



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

12 

 

 

 

 
9. Open Space 
 
9.1 Policy 32: Community, Health and Well-being of the SELLP states that where 

a development will increase the need for community facilities, ie recreational 
open space, it will not be permitted unless (where necessary) it supports the 
provision of new facilities, and/or the enhancement of existing facilities in 
accordance with Policy 5: Meeting Physical Infrastructure and Service Needs. 

 
9.2 Although in 2019/20 no new developments required the need for open space 

planning obligations, £73,000 of S106 planning obligation monies (B/15/0196) 
were used to deliver the Garfits Lane Multi Use Games Area, which was a great 
addition to the locality and aids the enhancement of physical and mental health 
of the community.   

 

 
Garfit’s Lane Multi Use Games Area 

 
9.3 In 2019/20, the Council spent £4,000 of £60,000 received from a planning 

obligation which is for the provision of play equipment and maintenance at 
Broadfield Lane play area and has allocated the remaining £56,000 to be spent 
on this site over the next 14 years.   

 
 

Broadfield Lane Play Area 
 

Page 104



Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

13 

 

 

 
10. Conclusion 
 
10.1 Boston Borough Council is committed to working with the local community, 

developers and other stakeholders to ensure that planning contributions are 
sought and used appropriately, as detailed within the SELLP, to deliver the 
infrastructure needs and requirements arising from development, such as new 
affordable housing, health, education and highways.  

 
10.2 If you have any queries or comments about this statement, please do not 

hesitate to contact us via email planning@boston.gov.uk or phone 01205 
314385.  

 

  

Page 105

mailto:planning@boston.gov.uk


Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 

 

 

14 

 

 

Appendix A 

List of All Legal Agreements Signed in 2019/20 

 

Planning Application 
No 

Agreement 
Type * 

Site Address Date Signed Obligations 

B/18/0328 S106 Land adjacent to 
Magnolia Lodge, 
Benington Road, 
Butterwick 
 

04/04/2019  Education 

 Affordable Housing 

B/16/0372 UU Land off Ashton Hall 
Drive, Boston 
 

21/05/2019  Affordable Housing 

B/19/0002 UU Land at 7 Lincoln Lane, 
Boston 
 

18/07/2019  Affordable Housing 

B/16/0372/CD3 S106 Land off Ashton Hall 
Drive, Boston 
 

05/09/2019  Affordable Housing 

B/19/0169 DoV Former Phoenix Poultry 
Farm, Swineshead Road, 
Wyberton 
 

27/09/2019  Affordable Housing 

B/16/0137 UU Land west of Boston 
Road, Kirton, Boston 
 

04/12/2019  Affordable Housing 

B/18/0382 DoV Land to the north west of 
Cole's Lane, Swineshead 
 

17/02/2020  Affordable Housing 

B/19/0288 UU Land off Grayling Way, 
Boston 
 

21/02/2020  Affordable Housing 

B/14/0165 & B/15/0264 DoV Land known as the 
Quadrant at either side of 
the A16, south of Tytton 
Lane East, Wyberton 
 

26/02/2020  Removal of Travel Plan 

B/18/0435 UU Land north of Langrick 
Road, Boston 
 

10/03/2020  Affordable Housing 

B/12/0171 & B/16/0372 UU Land off Ashton Hall 
Drive, Boston 
 

18/03/2020  Affordable Housing 

 
 

    

 

* Agreement Type Definitions S106  Section 106 Agreement 
 UU Unilateral Undertaking 

 DoV Deed of Variation 

 

         

Page 106



APPENDIX B 

S106 Planning Obligation Monitoring Fees: 

Development Size Proposed Fee 
Minor developments* – less than 10 residential units and 
where the gross floor space to be built is up to 1,000 square 
metres, or where the site area is less than 1 hectare. Where 
the number of dwellings to be constructed or floor area 
proposed is not given in the application, a site area of less 
than 0.5 hectares is classed as a minor development.  

 
 

£1,500  
 

Small scale Major developments*– 10-199 residential units 
(inclusive) and where the gross floor space to be built is 1,000 
– 9,999 square metres, or where the site area is 1 hectare 
and less than 2 hectares. Where the number of dwellings to 
be constructed or floor area proposed is not given in the 
application, a site area of between 0.5 hectares and less than 
4 hectares is classed as a small scale major development.  

 
 

£2,500 
 

Large scale Major developments* – 200 or more residential 
units and where the gross floor space to be built is 10,000 
square metres or more, or where the site area is 2 hectares 
or more. Where the number of dwellings to be constructed or 
floor area proposed is not given in the application, a site area 
of 4 hectares or more is classed as a large scale major 
development.  
 

 
 

£3,500 
 

Deeds of Variations – For all Deeds of Variation 
agreements. 

£350 

 

* A reduction to the monitoring fee of 50% will be applied for all new agreements    

where: 

 the scheme would only deliver Affordable Housing; and  

 there are no other obligation requirements; and  

 the scheme is brought forward by a Registered Provider or where evidence is 
provided that demonstrates one is on-board to deliver the scheme. 

 

Compliance of S106 Planning Obligations Enquiries: 

Confirmation of 
compliance with 
section 106 planning 
obligations (desktop 
assessment) 

£75 inc vat 

If a site visit is 
required, an 
additional 
charge of £100 
inc vat is 
payable. 

This is a desktop check of the 
Council’s records. If the clause in 
the agreement requires something 
to be undertaken on site it would be 
necessary to undertake a site visit 
for which there will be an additional 
charge. 

Use this service if you require 
confirmation that the clauses of the 
agreement have been complied with. 

 

 

Page 107



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This page is intentionally blank 

Page 108


	Agenda
	B MINUTES
	1 PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0338
	2 PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0432
	3 PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0427
	4 PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0428
	5 PLANNING APPLICATION B/20/0429
	6 INFRASTRUCTURE FUNDING STATEMENT

